Current Themes in Microwave and Infrared Spectroscopy of Weakly Bound Complexes

K. R. Leopold

Department of Chemistry, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55455

G. T. Fraser*

Molecular Physics Division, National Institute of Standards and Technology, Gaithersburg, Maryland 20899

S. E. Novick*

Department of Chemistry, Wesleyan University, Middletown, Connecticut 06459

W. Klemperer*

Department of Chemistry, Harvard University, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02138

Received January 27, 1994 (Revised Manuscript Received June 2, 1994)

Contents

1.	Introduction	1807
II.	Recent Studies of Dimers	1807
	 Angular-Radial Coupling in Rod-Ball Systems 	1808
	B. Some Questions about Rod-Ball Systems	1809
	C. Tunneling Dynamics in Homogeneous Dimers	1810
	D. Tunneling Dynamics in Heterogeneous Dimers	1811
	E. Barriers to Internal Rotation	1811
	1. Twofold Barriers	1812
	2. Threefold Barriers	1812
	F. Determination of Globally Reliable Potentials	1813
	G. Vibrational Dependence of the Interactions	1813
	H. Realistic Measurements of Dissociation Energies	1814
	 A New look at the Simplest Systems: Rare Gas Dimers and Related Species 	1815
III.	Larger Clusters	1816
	A. Overview	1816
	 B. Quantitative Probes of Nonadditive Interactions 	1817
	C. Tunneling Dynamics in Larger Clusters	1818
IV.	Modeling the Interactions	1818
	A. Electrostatic Models	1818
	B. The Role of ab Initio Calculations	1819
	C. When Do Experiments Become Unnecessary?	1820
۷.	Chemistry through Clusters	1820
	A. Weak Bonding vs Chemical Interactions	1820
	B. New Connections to Crystallography	1821
	C. "Reaction Paths" from Complexes	1821
	D. Observation of Real Chemical Intermediates	1822
VI.	Conclusion	1823
VII.	References	1823

I. Introduction

High-resolution spectroscopy of weakly bound molecular complexes held as one of its earliest goals the

detailed understanding of the interactions between molecules. The prospect of connecting a molecularlevel description of small clusters with a more familiar understanding of bulk materials has also been a pervasive driving force. Out of these ideas has grown a body of science which encompasses a surprisingly rich variety of topics, and the volume of information now available about weakly bound systems has become truly staggering. The goal of this article is to illuminate some of the recent trends which continue to drive further work in this area. In part II we discuss recent studies on a number of important weakly bound dimers, focusing both on their internal dynamics and on the dependence of the interactions on monomer vibrational excitation. Section III addresses the progress and implications of high resolution studies of larger clusters, and in section IV, we summarize the status of predictive methods (both electrostatic modeling and ab initio theory). Finally, in section V, we review a number of recent applications to the study of systems which lie "on the brink of chemistry" and which thus offer the hope of bridging the study of "nonchemical" interactions with the more familiar understanding of truly chemical phenomena.

We limit the scope of this article to results derived primarily from high-resolution infrared and microwave spectroscopy. In doing so, a conspicuous omission is the spectroscopy and photophysics of optically excited van der Waals molecules, and, in particular, the almost explosive progress which has occurred in recent years in the optical spectroscopy of open shell species. Fortunately, several excellent reviews on the latter have recently appeared.¹ Numerous other reviews covering a broad range of topics are available as well,²⁻²⁵ and an extensive bibliography of references has been compiled.²⁶

II. Recent Studies of Dimers

The earliest high-resolution studies of weakly bound dimers focused on structures of the complexes and on zero point motions of the monomer units in



Kenneth R. Leopold received his B.S. degree in Chemistry from the State University of New York at Stony Brook in 1977, and his Ph.D. in Chemistry from Harvard in 1983, working with William Klemperer. Following a postdoctoral fellowship in K. M. Evenson's laboratory in Boulder CO, he joined the faculty at the University of Minnesota in 1986 where he is currently Associate Professor of Chemistry. His interest are in the spectroscopic investigation of weakly bound and partially bound systems.



Gerald T. Fraser graduated with a B.A. in Chemistry from Loyola University of Chicago in 1979. He received his Ph.D. in Physical Chemistry from Harvard University in 1985 under the direction of William Klemperer. He has been at the National Institute of Standards and Technology since 1985 where his research interests are in the areas of intermolecular forces and molecular spectroscopy.

the region of the potential energy minimum. Not only did these features provide the most basic characterization of a complex, but they were, quite fortunately, the ones which were most readily available from microwave techniques used at the time. Since these early studies, however, significant advances in experimental and theoretical methodologies have made possible the observation and interpretation of spectra at much higher energies. As a result, with a myriad of structures already accurately known, much of the emphasis has shifted toward a more global understanding of the intermolecular potential surfaces and to a clearer description of the internal dynamics which occurs on them. In a parallel vein, the vibrational dependence of the interactions has also become a significant issue, due to the crucial role played by monomer-localized infrared spectra. The topics highlighted in this section reflect these trends. Also included, however, is some recent work on the most fundamental, but previously inaccessible systems (the rare gas dimers), which revives some the



Professor Steward E. Novick (1945) studied chemistry at the State University of New York at Stony Brook (B.S. 1967) where he got his first taste of research as an undergraduate in the laboratory of Professor Theodore Goldfarb and at Brookhaven National Laboratory. He went on to Harvard University (Ph.D. 1973) to work in the molecular beams laboratory of Professor William Klemperer where he was fortunate enough to be in the right place at the right time in order to participate in the very beginnings of the high-resolution microwave studies of weakly bound complexes produced in supersonic jet. After a postdoctoral stint with Klemperer, he then went on to a research associateship with Professor W. Carl Lineberger at the Joint Institute of Laboratory Astrophysics in Boulder, CO, where he worked on photodetachment and photoelectron spectroscopy of negative ions. In 1978 he joined the Chemistry Department of Wesleyan University where he is currently Professor of Chemistry. During a sabbatical semester at the National Institute for Standards and Technology in 1987 he learned the technique of pulsed jet Fourier transform microwave spectroscopy, a technique which has been transported to his own laboratory at Wesleyan in aid of his major research interests in the elucidation of the structure, bonding and dynamics of weakly bound complexes and in the structure, bonding and electronics of radicals. He is the author of 40 scientific papers and he is a founding member of the Southern New England Microwave Consortium.



William Klemperer is a Professor of Chemistry at Harvard University. He joined the faculty in 1954 as instructor after completing his Ph.D. with George Pimentel at Berkeley. From 1979 to 1981 he was Assistant Director of the National Science Foundation (for Mathematical and Physical Sciences). His research interests are in chemical physics. He has taught analytical and inorganic chemistry as well as his major area of physical chemistry.

spirit of simplicity enjoyed by the earliest studies of weakly bound complexes.

A. Angular–Radial Coupling in Rod–Ball Systems

The interaction of the inert gases with the hydrogen halides has been studied extensively, and these simple rod-ball systems have a seemingly natural extension in the rare gas complexes with HCN. Indeed, the dipole moment of HCN is only 2-3 times larger than that of HF and HCl, and it might, therefore, be expected that close similarities between the Rg-HX and Rg-HCN structures would exist. From the very first observation of Kr-HCN,²⁷ however, it was apparent that this was not the case. To date, the most extensively studied member of the Rg-HCN series is Ar-HCN,^{28-37a} and there is a quite good picture, today, of the nature of the potential energy surface and of the internal dynamics which occur on it. The large amount of data now available has made clear that strong angular radial coupling, together with tunneling outside the classical turning point of the bending potential, is at the root of a variety of spectroscopic anomalies which distinguish this system from the ordinary. In its interaction with the inert gases, HCN (and indeed also the isoelectronic HCCH discussed below) are best pictured as modestly extended rods, in contrast to the hydrogen halides which appear to be slightly distorted spheres. As a consequence, the dynamics of the Rg-HX systems allows the angular and radial motions to be at least approximately separated, while for Ar-HCN, the angular-radial coupling becomes significant. In Ar–HF, for example, the rotational constants of all angular excited states are within 1% of that of the ground state, while for Ar-HCN the rotational constants of the angular excited states differ by as much as 25% from that of ground state.^{37a} Interestingly, these effects were understood theoretically^{32,34} before experiments.

The lowest frequency bending vibrations of Ar– HCN are a Σ state at 5.500 164 7(4) cm⁻¹ and a Π state at 6.070 346 6(2) cm⁻¹.³⁷ The J = 1 level of free HCN is at 3 cm⁻¹, showing that the potential hindering rotation (and concomitant radial contraction) is exceptionally feeble. It is noteworthy that in the first excited CH valence stretching state of HCN, the equivalent Π bending state^{31,33} is at 8.057 95(17) cm⁻¹. This dramatic change of 30% in frequency illustrates the possible sensitivity of very low frequency vibrations to other coordinates.

Ne-HCN has also been well-characterized by its rotational spectrum.³⁸ The magnitude of the centrifugal distortion is a factor of 10 greater than that in Ar-HCN,²⁸ showing undoubtedly the effects of large angular-radial coupling. The surprisingly large HCN/DCN isotope effect upon the ground state centrifugal distortion which is observed for Ar-HCN, however, is not seen. This indicates that tunneling into the 90° T-shaped configuration is irrelevant in Ne-HCN as a consequence of the much larger angular excursion that exists within the classical turning point of the effective bending potential. Indeed for Ne–HCN, $\langle \theta \rangle = \cos^{-1} \{ [(2P_2(\cos \theta) + 1)/$ 3]^{1/2}} is 46°, indicating a broader angular distribution than that which exists in Ar-HCN (31°). For Kr-HCN, on the other hand, the observed centrifugal distortion is about one-fourth that of Ar-HCN but shows identical isotopic dependence. Several transitions of He-HCN³⁹ have also been observed, but the data are too preliminary to incorporate in the present discussion.

There remains one exceptional puzzle in the Ar-HCN problem. A doublet rotational transition, J =

1–2, K = 1 with B within 1% of the ground state has been observed.³⁶ Since the ground state of Ar–HCN is linear and the excited II state well characterized, it appears likely to us that this transition is of an Ar–HCN complex with valence vibrational degeneracy in the HCN submolecule. The ν_2 vibration of HCN is poorly cooled in expansions with inert gases and therefore has high population in the jet. This assignment implies a long (~1 ms) predissociative lifetime for the state. It is noteworthy that this type of state is also observed in Ne–HCN.³⁸

Rare gas complexes of HCCH (which is isoelectronic with HCN) have also been studied. The dipole moment of Ar-HCCH is small, $8.966(10) \times 10^{-32}$ Cm (0.026 97(3) D), but there have nonetheless been successful studies of its rotational spectrum,^{40,41} and the complex is seen to have a T-shaped minimum energy configuration. As with Ar-HCN, the angular rigidity is quite weak, and thus interpretation of the rotational and rotation-vibration spectra prove to be quite complex.^{42,43} As might be expected, however, the centrifugal distortion does not appear pathologically large, indicating that angular-radial coupling is less pronounced for a rod-ball system with a T-shaped equilibrium geometry than it is for the linear shape. The dynamics of the He-HCCH system has been treated,44 and the system is quite nonrigid, giving a very complex rotation-vibration spectrum near 3000 $\text{cm}^{-1.45}$

B. Some Questions about Rod-Ball Systems

Of considerable interest is the nature of the intermolecular potential of the rod-ball system in general. In particular, the question may be asked as to whether there are numerous local pockets on the rod in which the ball may rest. This problem has arisen in the Ar-HCCH system where a combination of semiempirical modeling, Hartree-Fock plus distributed atom-atom damped dispersion, and the fitting of the rotation-low frequency vibration spectra has led to the conclusion of a double-minimum potential.⁴⁶ This point appears important to test further since the question of accuracy of Hartree-Fock plus atom-atom interaction is important. We note that early modeling of the potential energy surface of Ar-HCN by a similar method predicted bent equilibrium geometries²⁹ and was shown to give a poor representation of the low frequency vibrational levels.³⁵

More generally, the existence of isomers of rodball type inert gas-molecule binary complexes has not yet been widely established.⁴⁷ Although the potential energy surfaces for Ar-HF and Ar-HCl, for example, show minima at $\theta = 0^{\circ}$ and 180°, the state with highest probability density at 180°, the Σ bending state (v100), shows no evidence of being metastable, and has large probability amplitude for $\theta < \pi/2$.

The inert gas-halogen species are perhaps more likely systems in which to find both linear and T-shaped isomers. $Ar-ClF^{48}$ and $Kr-ClF^{49}$ for instance, have linear equilibrium geometries, as determined by rotational spectroscopy, while for a number of halogen complexes, T-shaped structures have been established by rotational analysis of electronic transitions. The electronic spectrum of Ar-I₂ has been carefully examined in the B-X system,^{50,51} and it has been suggested that both isomers do, in fact, exist simultaneously.⁵² It has been further suggested that the latter is the carrier of the sharp bands in the B-X system, while the former has a continuous spectrum readily observable by laser induced fluorescence. Indeed, the linear isomer has been implicated in the "one atom cage effect"⁵¹ seen in the photodissociation dynamics of the complex. For Ar-Cl₂, an electron structure calculation suggests that the two isomers are virtually isoenergetic.⁵³ The existence of the T-shaped form has recently been established by rotational spectroscopy.⁵⁴

C. Tunneling Dynamics in Homogenous Dimers

Homogenous dimers have played a central role in the theory of intermolecular forces due to their close connection to the properties of one-component systems (e.g. crystal structures, boiling points, vapor pressure curves, and transport properties of pure gases). In many of the homogenous dimers the two bonding partners occupy structurally inequivalent sights giving rise to an interesting tunneling motion which allows the subunits to interchange bonding roles in the complex. First observed and extensively characterized in $(HF)_{2}$, 55-80 interchange tunneling has been studied in a number of systems, including $(SO_2)_2$,⁸¹ $(HCl)_2$,⁸²⁻⁹⁰ $(NH_3)_2$,⁹¹⁻⁹⁹ $(H_2O)_2$,^{20,94,100-119} $(HCCH)_2$,^{77,120-126} $(H_2CO)_2$,¹²⁷ and $(C_6H_6)_2$.¹²⁸ The observed splittings range from 70(1) kHz in $(SO_2)_2^{81}$ to more than 10 cm⁻¹ in $(HCl)_2^{87,90}$ and $(NH_3)_2^{.98}$ In each case the tunneling motion can be pictured as a hindered, geared internal rotational motion of the two subunits about their centers of mass. Several examples are illustrated in Figure 1. The potentials have two minima in $(HF)_2$ and $(HCl)_2$, four minima in $(HCCH)_2$, and eight minima in $(H_2O)_2$. In addition to the interchange tunneling, a number of the homogenous dimers, such as $(H_2O)_2$ and $(NH_3)_2$, exhibit additional tunneling processes which further complicate the energy-level splitting patterns. The analysis of these complex spectra have been greatly facilitated by the molecular symmetry group of Longuet-Higgins,¹²⁹ which was first applied to dimers by Dyke and co-workers^{56,100} in studies of $(HF)_2$ and $(H_2O)_2$.

The rich tunneling dynamics possible in the homogenous dimers is illustrated by the case of $(H_2O)_2$. As shown in Figure 2, hydrogen interchange tunneling splits each C_s symmetry rigid rotor energy level into six tunneling sublevels.¹⁰⁰ The largest tunneling splitting, as initially inferred¹⁰⁵ from a semiempirical potential energy surface,¹³⁰ is also pictured in Figure 2 and results from an interchange of the two protons on the proton acceptor-water unit. The next most important tunneling process is the acceptor-donor interchange motion,¹⁰⁵ which allows the two subunits to exchange bonding roles in the complex. A third motion allows for interchange of the proton donor hydrogens and is thought to go through a bifurcated transition state.^{105,114} Extensive isotopic studies of 10 of the 11 possible deuterated complexes,^{101,110,112,116-119,131-134} together with one-dimensional modeling of the tunneling dynamics¹¹⁹ and *ab initio*



Figure 1. Tunneling motions in several weakly bound dimers.

calculations of the various tunneling barriers,¹¹⁴ have been undertaken to unravel the complicated largeamplitude motions exhibited in this system.

Upon vibrational excitation of a monomer localized vibration in the dimers, these interchange tunneling splittings generally decrease significantly. For example, in (HF)₂ the tunneling splitting decreases from ~20 GHz to 6–7 GHz upon excitation of the proton donor and proton acceptor HF stretches.⁵⁸ This observation led Pine, Lafferty, and Howard⁵⁹ to suggest that the decrease in tunneling splitting arises because of the difficulty of exchanging the vibrational excitation between the monomer units, necessary in order that the tunneling leads to an isoenergetic configuration. Vibrational transition dipole–dipole coupling has been proposed as a mechanism for the vibrational energy interchange and a dynamical



Figure 2. An energy level diagram of $(H_2O)_2$, illustrating the energy level splittings which arise from hydrogen interchange motions.

model on the basis of tunneling between degenerate local mode states has been developed to calculate the splittings.⁷⁷ The model has met with qualitative success in explaining the further drop in tunneling splittings for overtones of $(HF)_2$ and more recently with quantitative success in interpreting the splittings of the mixed overtone states. It also explains the tunneling-state selection rules for the C-H stretches of $(HCCH)_2$.¹²² These selection rules, i.e. top-to-top and bottom-to-bottom or top-to-bottom and bottom-to-top in the tunneling splitting, cannot be derived group theoretically, but depend on the form of the model proposed for the vibrational exchange.

D. Tunneling Dynamics in Heterogenous Dimers

The intermolecular potentials of many weakly bound complexes are characterized by multiple minima separated by small potential barriers. When these minima are not isoenergetic and the potential barriers are sufficiently high compared with the zero point energy, isomers can result. Examples include N_2O-HF , $^{135-138}CO_2-HCN$, $^{139-142}$ and HF-HCl. 143,144 When the minima are equivalent, tunneling between them can lead to significant complications in the rovibrational spectra. Nonetheless, with proper interpretation, valuable information about the barriers can be obtained. (See next section.) Among the types of motions which have been observed in heterogeneous dimers are hydrogen interchange tunneling in ${\rm CO}_2-{\rm H}_2{\rm O},^{145}$ nitrogen interchange tunneling in ${\rm N}_2 H_2O$,¹⁴⁶ NH₃ internal rotation in NH₃-CO₂,¹⁴⁷ and CH₄ internal rotation in CH₄-HCl.¹⁴⁸ The motions are usually modeled as a hindered rotation of the monomer about one or more of its principal axes in a potential expanded in Wigner D functions or spherical harmonics, or represented as a Fourier series.

In stable molecules, the most well-studied motion is the internal rotation of a symmetric top, with methanol (for which the internal rotation barrier is \sim 375 cm⁻¹) being a classic example. In weakly bound dimers, the larger contact distances render the barriers significantly smaller, giving rise to values less than ${\sim}25~{\rm cm}^{-1}$ in Ar–CH₃CN, 149 Ar–CH₃Cl, 150 Ar– NH₃,¹⁵¹ Ar-CH₃C≡CH,¹⁵² and HOH-NH₃.¹⁵³ Such facile internal rotation gives rise to strong Coriolis interactions which further complicate the spectra and lead to a large number of "forbidden" transitions.¹⁵⁰ Valuable information is contained in such spectra, however, as the Coriolis interactions are sensitive to the orientation of the top in the molecule, and thus provide information about the zero point direction cosines between the top axis and the inertial axes of the complex.¹⁵⁰

In addition to internal rotation motions arising strictly from the van der Waals interactions, a number of complexes have also been studied in which one of the monomer units has its own internal rotation or inversion motion independent of complexation. Examples include the NH₃ umbrella inversion in ammonia complexes 91,98,154-156 and CH_3 internal rotation in methanol¹⁵⁷⁻¹⁵⁹ and propene¹⁶⁰ complexes. The effects of complexation on these motions can be significant. For instance, in NH_3 complexes having a Lewis acid bonded to the NH₃ lone-pair orbital, the tunneling potential is asymmetric, and the inversion is effectively quenched. However, in the case of Ar-NH₃ states in which the Ar is localized perpendicular to the 3-fold axis, the tunneling splittings are within 5% of the free ammonia value.¹⁵⁴ This particularly unusual system is discussed further in the section on 3-fold internal rotation barriers.

E. Barriers to Internal Rotation

The existence of internal rotation in weakly bound complexes leads naturally to the question of measurement of barrier heights. It is interesting to note that an important reason to study internal rotation in valence bonded systems was to learn the nature of nonbonded interactions,¹⁶¹ and this is, of course, at least as true for weakly bound systems. In the general binary complex, the six soft coordinates consist of one distance and five angles. Except for the simplest forms of atom-rod or rod-rod complexes, one coordinate at least will be regarded as an internal rotation coordinate. The treatment of internal rotation about a valence bond has a particular elegance, as the motion is one of large amplitude but the potential can be characterized by essentially only one parameter. In weakly bound complexes, however, there are a number of questions which arise before such a simple characterization is possible. For example, the axis about which internal rotation occurs is not generally obvious. Furthermore it is not clear that the assumption of rotation of tops at constant radial separation (as is the rule in valence bonded species) is valid. Nonetheless, with these qualifications in mind, the determination of barrier heights in weakly bound systems frequently follows the well-established methods of rotational spectroscopy, e.g., analyzing the differences of rotational constants of the different torsional species. In a few

instances other properties such as dipole moments and differences in hyperfine structure may also be analyzed. Fortunately, for weakly bound complexes, the latter, to good measure, directly reflect the nuclear probability distribution and thus have simple and valuable interpretation.

1. Twofold Barriers

Twofold barriers pose distinct problems since the moments of inertia of the complex change as the internal rotation takes place. Yet, complexes with H_2O are frequently studied and the 2-fold barrier problem is therefore quite common. The two lowest energy rotational states of water, which are always present, are 0_{00} (with singlet proton spin function) and the 1_{01} (with a triplet proton spin function), and these lead to spatially symmetric and antisymmetric tunneling states, respectively, in the complexes they form. An important example of this type of system is the planar complex $H_2O-CO_{23}^{145,162}$ point group C_{2v} , which is isoelectronic and isostructural to H_2CCF_2 . The rotation is about the *b* inertial axis of the H_2O (i.e. the 2-fold axis), and the barrier is found to be $305(3) \text{ cm}^{-1}$. CO₂, a spinless molecule, follows Bose-Einstein statistics and thus, for the ground vibrational state, only even J rotational levels exist. The pure rotational spectrum¹⁴⁵ of the complex contains only even torsional levels for K even and only odd torsional levels for K odd. The A rotational constants are obtained for both series since the molecule is an asymmetric top, and their difference provides a measure of the barrier. Since the infrared allowed perpendicular vibrations produce an asymmetric H_2O molecule, the fine structure on the infrared¹⁶² transition can directly provide the rotational level splittings and the internal rotation barrier, under the mild assumption that the latter is the same in both ground and excited vibrational state. It is impressive that the earlier, much more ambiguous barrier¹⁴⁵ is in perfect agreement with the much more reliable later determination.¹⁶²

A closely related species is H_2O-N_2O . This is also a planar system, but it is bent 20° from a $C_{2\nu}$ geometry,¹⁶³ thus giving the impression that the water has both oxygen interactions and a bent hydrogen bond with the oxygen of the N₂O. From such a structure one might expect the barrier to internal rotation to be appreciably higher than that in H_2O-CO_2 , but the observed barrier of 235(10) cm⁻¹ is, in fact, considerably less. The two systems are difficult to compare, however, as the internal motions must be somewhat different due to the $C_{2\nu}$ and non- $C_{2\nu}$ structures of the complexes. The complex H₂O-NCCN,¹⁶⁴ which is of C_{2v} symmetry, forms a better comparison with the CO₂ complex, but again, the measured barrier to internal rotation $[285(6) \text{ cm}^{-1}]$ is appreciably smaller. This is particularly interesting since the quadrupole moment of cyanogen is twice that of carbon dioxide, illustrating the subtleties which will arise in the interpretation of internal rotation barriers. It is interesting to note that the 2-fold internal rotation barriers in valence bonded species (e.g. ethylene) are generally quite high and that the 2-fold barriers discussed above, are also substantial fractions of the dissociation energy.

Complexes where water acts as a proton donor present a distinctly different type of double minimum problem. Here, the complexes have monodentate structures and undergo proton switching or hindered rotation about the c axis of water (i.e., the axis perpendicular to its plane).^{146,165} The theory of the effect of internal rotation on the rotational constants for this type of system is likely to be extremely complex, depending upon intimate details of angularradial potential. The complexes of water with CO and N_2 are examples. From the ¹⁴N quadrupole hyperfine structure in N_2 - H_2O , the average orientation of the N2 molecule along the heavy atom axis is 23.2°.166 (The corresponding angle is not well established for the CO, although in principle such a determination is possible with C^{17} O.) For the water subunit, however, the average orientation with respect to the heavy atom axis can be determined in both complexes from deuterium quadrupole coupling constants, and is found to be quite similar for the two species. The difference between the average rotational constants for the spatially symmetric and antisymmetric tunneling states of the two systems, however, differ by about a factor of 5. The two tunneling states in CO-H₂O have been sufficiently studied that a barrier height of 210(20) cm⁻¹ has been determinable. It appears that the available data for these systems are consistent with the reasonable expectation of a proton interconversion barrier in $N_2 - H_2O$ much lower than 210 cm⁻¹, but no precise determination has been made.

The motion of the N2 moiety in the complexes N2-H₂O and N₂-HF brings to light another interesting feature of 2-fold internal rotation and illustrates the subtlety which enters into determining even the most qualitative aspects of a system's internal dynamics. In N_2 - H_2O , one sees unquenched internal rotation of the N₂,¹⁴⁶ while replacement of the H₂O by HF in the complex renders the two nitrogens completely noninterconverting¹⁶⁷ (as evidenced by their distinct values of eQq). Indeed, the effect is quite dramatic, as in N_2 -HF the angular rigidity leads to a vibrationally averaged angle of only 16.8° for the bending of the N_2 away from colinearity with the HF. An appealing, but as yet untested explanation of the differing dynamics in the HF and H₂O complexes is that there is a geared motion in the latter in which internal rotation of the nitrogen is accompanied by a proton switching motion not possible in the HF complex. Perhaps even more dramatic than the effect of substituting H_2O by HF is the effect of isotopic substitution in ${}^{14}N{}^{15}N{}-H_2O$, in which the inequivalence of ¹⁴N and ¹⁵N is also enough to convert the system to a rigid noninterconverting structure.

2. Threefold Barriers

The 3-fold barrier to internal rotation is extremely well studied in valence bonded species. There are few examples of high 3-fold barriers in weakly bonded complexes, which is in accord with expectation from distance scaling. Comparison of NH_3-H_2O and NH_3-H_2S with CH_3OH and CH_3SH , where a hydrogen bond replaces the valence bond, is not quantitative since both the spectra of NH_3-H_2O and $NH_3 H_2S$ and their fully deuterated isotopomers are fit by free internal rotation with unfortunately very large upper limits for the barriers.¹⁶⁸ Splittings due to proton switching in H_2O and H_2S are also observed, however, giving tunneling splittings of $56.5(15)^{153}$ and 864.4(2) MHz¹⁶⁹ for the H₂O and H₂S systems, respectively.

An interesting internal rotation problem virtually unique to van der Waals molecules is found in the complexes $Ar-CH_3Cl,^{150}$ $Ar-CH_3CN,^{149}$ and Ar- $NH_3,^{170}$ alluded to earlier. In $Ar-CH_3Cl$ the heavy atoms form a T-shaped structure¹⁵⁰ with the Ar located about 3.750(1) Å from the carbon atom. Since CH_3Cl is relatively heavy, "in-plane" zero point oscillations are not large. Although the T-shaped heavy atom structure remains intact throughout the zero point motions, the CH_3Cl internally rotates about its C_3 axis, and the upper limit for the barrier to this motion has been placed at about 20 cm⁻¹.

A more extreme case is the highly nonrigid species $Ar-NH_3$, where rotation about all *three* axes of the NH_3 is nearly unhindered. The nonrigidity is clearly seen in the hyperfine structure for the lowest state of the complex, which correlates with J = 0 of free NH₃, and is born out by a host of other spectroscopically measured quantities. The average internuclear separation in all of the above states appears quite constant at approximately 3.8 Å, and the intermolecular stretching states for both K = 0 and $K = \pm 1$ type states have been observed. The polar angle dependence of the 3-fold internal rotation barrier has been determined,¹⁵¹ varying (obviously) from zero, in either of the symmetric top configurations, to approximately 25.6(2) cm⁻¹ in the vicinity of the equilibrium, near perpendicular geometry. A very complete data set now exists for this system, $^{91,151,154,155,170-174}$ and recent multidimensional dynamical analysis has been used to fit a potential surface to the spectroscopic data, thus providing the most detailed knowledge of the intermolecular potential currently available.¹⁷⁵

Studies on methanol complexes^{157-159,176} have led to some interesting discussion regarding the effect of weak bond formation on the internal rotation barrier within a subunit of the complex. For instance, in the methanol complex with formamide, which has a planar heavy atom structure with NH--O- and OH--O=C< hvdrogen bonds, the internal rotation split A and E symmetry rotational transitions imply a 3-fold barrier decrease of approximately 140 cm⁻¹ from that of the monomer.¹⁵⁸ A pleasing physical picture has been developed to rationalize this reduction in terms of a gradual change of the 3-fold potential to a 6-fold potential as the local symmetry around the CH₃OH oxygen atom increases.¹⁵⁸ Casting doubt on this picture, however, are recent results on CO-methanol,¹⁷⁶ which show an even more dramatic barrier lowering of nearly 200 cm^{-1} even though the interaction is presumably weaker than in methanol-formamide, and does not show the analogous symmetry increase. It has been recently suggested¹⁷⁷ that these apparent decreases in internal rotation barriers are artifacts of the analysis which neglects the large zero point oscillation of the OH group in the complex. Instead of invoking such dramatic barrier decreases to interpret the A/E torsional splittings in the microwave spectrum, they are attributed to a zero point reduction in the reduced mass for tunneling. The propene– SO_2 complex¹⁷⁸ which does not have a light rotor, such as the OH group in CH₃OH, does not exhibit any appreciable change in the 3-fold barrier upon complexation when the spectra are analyzed in a manner similar to that initially applied to formamide-methanol and CO-methanol.

F. Determination of Globally Reliable Potentials

The promise of the spectroscopy of weakly bound complexes has been to provide reliable intermolecular potentials. From the early pure rotational spectroscopy, a picture of likely equilibrium configuration plus zero point oscillation amplitudes was obtained. Considerable progress through measurements of the soft mode vibrations has greatly enlarged the portion of configuration space that the molecules sees.^{21,22} This, together with soft mode combination bands seen in valence bond excitations, has given as large a data set with respect to configuration space as exists for any polyatomic system. A rotational Rydberg-Klein-Rees (RKR) analysis has been applied to determine radial potentials in a few cases, 167b, 179 but a fully dimensional RKR method for direct inversion of spectral data has not been demonstrated. Thus, the generation of the intermolecular potential requires a flexibly parameterized potential whose coefficients are in general adjusted to the experimental data set by nonlinear least squares. Indeed, a considerable effort has been expended toward achieving a stable representation for such multicoordinate potentials. Global potentials for Ar-HF^{180a} and Ar-HCl^{180b} have been developed; the H-X coordinate is, however, the vibrational average interaction energy rather than the explicit distance. Similar but clearly more complex potentials have been developed for $Ar-H_2O^{181}$ and Ar-NH₃.¹⁷⁵ For the latter, only the ground valence vibrational state of the hydrides are considered. Several excellent reviews describing the methodology and successes in determining globally reliable potentials are available elsewhere.^{18,19,22}

G. Vibrational Dependence of the Interactions

The large experimental effort in the near-infrared to study the monomer-localized fundamental vibrations¹⁵ in weakly bound complexes has recently been extended to overtone vibrations to allow a more complete understanding of the vibrational dependence of the interactions. High-resolution overtone studies have been reported on the HF stretches of $(HF)_2^{75,78,80}$ and Ar-HF,¹⁸²⁻¹⁸⁴ the C-H stretches of HCN-HF,¹⁸⁵ $(HCN)_2$,¹⁸⁶ and BF_3-NCH ,¹⁸⁷ and the NO stretches of $(NO)_2$.¹⁸⁸ In some cases, such as Ar-HF, combination vibrations have been observed, giving detailed information about the coupling of the monomer coordinate to the dimer coordinates. The most extensive experimental data is available for Ar-HF and $(HF)_2$ for which the v = 0, 1, 2, and 3 HF stretches have been characterized.

In Ar-HF,¹⁸²⁻¹⁸⁴ it is found that the frequency shift of the HF stretch increases slightly faster than linearly with increasing number of HF quanta. By v = 3 the zero point binding energy of Ar-HF has increased by $\sim 33\%$ over the ground state value. Concomitant with this increased binding energy is a decrease in both the interaction distance and the HF bending amplitude, as seen by examination of the rotational constants, electric dipole moments, and van der Waals frequencies of the excited vibrational states. Despite the fact the coupling strength of the monomer mode to the van der Waals interaction is a significant fraction of the van der Waals binding energy, the vibrational predissociation rates for Ar-HF are significantly smaller than those typically observed for weakly bound complexes. The v = 1excited complex is found to live longer than 0.3 ms¹⁸⁹ and the v = 3 excited complex has a lifetime of greater than 80 ns.^{184a} Precise measurements of vibrational predissociation widths for the Ar-HF vibrational states would be valuable to assess the utility of this information in improving on the repulsive part of Ar-HF pair potential. Also, the effects of the increased number of open channels and the better coupling of the HF stretch to the van der Waals coordinate due to the reduced zero point bending amplitude can be explored.

An even richer vibrational dynamics is observed in the overtone spectra of $(HF)_2$.^{75,78,80} The vibrational predissociation rate is found to be mode K and tunneling state dependent. The faster predissociation rate for the proton donor HF unit has been rationalized^{67a} in terms of better kinetic coupling of the HF stretch to the dissociation coordinate. Photofragment studies on the fundamental bands^{190,191} verify this picture and show the importance of near resonances in the dissociation process. Also, as with the Ar-HF studies, we see a significant increase in the van der Waals binding strength with vibrational excitation.^{75,78,80} Experimentally, the dynamics of $(HF)_2$ are well characterized, but the system is sufficiently complicated to have eluded any accurate theoretical description. It is expected that $(HF)_2$, as a prototype interaction between two linear molecules, will generate much theoretical interest in the years to come.

H. Realistic Measurements of Dissociation Energies

High-resolution microwave studies of weakly bound complexes give detailed structural and dynamical information about the region near the bottom of the ground state potential well. The most important information about the *top* of the well, however, (i.e., its location) is not determined from such experiments. Fortunately, a number of methods have been successfully used to measure van der Waals dissociation energies, and some examples are presented in this section.

One of the earliest spectroscopically based measurements of a van der Waals dissociation energy was that of HCN-HF [1542(92) cm⁻¹], done by Legon and co-workers in 1978.¹⁹² Absolute transition intensities in a Stark modulated microwave cell spectrometer were made under thermal equilibrium conditions, and knowledge of the absolute rotational line strengths and number densities of the monomers allowed calculation of a "vibronic ground state equilibrium constant", $K_{00} = n_{v=0,J=0}$ (HCN-HF)/ n_{00} (HCN) n_{00} (HF). Since the measured "equilibrium constant" in this case applied specifically to the vibronic ground state, it could be readily related to the dissociation energy, D_0 , according to $K_{00} = Q_{AB}/Q_AQ_B \exp(D_0/kT)$, using only translational partition functions, Q_i . Thus, the analysis did not depend on the internal structure of the three species and was particularly simple. Analogous methods have been used in the infrared, and high-resolution measurements of integrated absolute infrared line strengths have yielded D_0 for the complexes (HF)₂ [1038(+43/-34) cm⁻¹],¹⁹³ (HCl)₂ [431(22) cm⁻¹],¹⁹³ and (NO)₂ [639(35) cm⁻¹],^{194,195} Here, the analysis is quite detailed and requires careful attention to line profiles and the complete partition functions of the monomers.

The observation of rotational predissociation has also successfully yielded weak bond dissociation energies. Howard and Pine, for example, have determined the binding energy, D_0 , of Ar-HCl to be 114.7(10) cm⁻¹,¹⁹⁶ and Fraser and Pine, using the same technique, have obtained binding energies of 101.7(12), 133.0(12), and 180.9(22) cm⁻¹, for Ar-HF, Kr-KF, and Xe-HF, respectively.¹⁹⁷ Infrared absorption spectra were recorded in a cooled White cell containing a 10% mixture of HF in 2000 Pa (15 Torr) of the rare gas. Higher J rotational levels of the complexes were missing due to rotational predissociation, which occurs when the rotational energy exceeds the binding energy and when tunneling through the centrifugal barrier is fast enough to produce noticeable spectral broadening. The authors argued that the use of pseudodiatomic radial ptoentials to model the potential surface is equivalent to averaging the complete anisotropic potential over the librational motion of the HX subunit. A onedimensional, four-parameter, Maitland-Smith potential (a generalization of the Lennard-Jones form) was assumed, and the ground and excited state potential parameters adjusted to reproduce the spectra, the red shift (from monomer HX), and the line widths (calculated from tunneling).

Similarly, Lovejoy and Nesbitt have determined the binding energy, D_0 , of Ne-DF to be 34.7(8) cm^{-1} ,¹⁹⁸ of He-HF to be 7.1(1) cm^{-1} , and of He-HCl to be 10.1(12) cm^{-1.199} Here, a slit nozzle, with its gentle density decrease, going as $(distance from slit)^{-1}$ is used to produce these extremely weakly bound species. Presumably, the slit nozzle is efficacious in the production of these complexes because all the molecules spend more time in regions of densities high enough for the cooling three-body collisions to occur. Direct absorption of near infrared radiation was monitored to produce vibrational-rotational spectra in which the HX moiety is vibrationally (and internal rotationally) excited within the complex. For the helium-containing systems, a cutoff was observed in the end-over-end rotational progression of the complex due to rotational predissociation in the vibrationally excited state (as opposed to the vibrational ground state, as was the case in the Fraser and Pine studies). Here, a Lennard-Jones-like (m,6)potential form was assumed. The line widths are extremely sensitive to the energy level position within the centrifugal barrier and thus precisely define the excess energy above dissociation. The fitting procedure of Fraser and Pine was used and simple changes in the assumed form of the potential produced negligible differences in the dissociation energy.

Vibrational predissociation in optical spectra has also been used by Janda and co-workers to measure the ground state dissociation energies of a number of rare gas-halogen complexes.²⁰⁰⁻²⁰² The measurements are made by a pump-probe technique in which the complex dissociates following initial electronic excitation into the B state of the halogen moiety. A second laser further excites the electronically excited free halogen resulting from the dissociation, and total fluorescence is monitored. Thus, the nascent distribution of rotational and vibrational levels of the halogen molecule produced by the dissociation process is interrogated. The van der Waals dissociation energy of the electronically excited $Ar-X_2$ complex is bracketed by noting the largest value of j, the rotational quantum number of B state of the halogen, for which the dissociation terminates, and by then applying energy conservation, with the centrifugal barriers and conservation of angular momentum also taken into account.²⁰¹ By correcting for the blue shift of the $X \rightarrow B$ transition for $Ar-X_2$ compared to X_2 itself, the dissociation energy of the ground electronic state of the complex is determined. Since j_{max} is typically around 25, the accuracy with which the dissociation energy can be bracketed is characteristically 8 cm⁻¹ $\approx 2j_{max}B(Cl_2)$ [where B(Cl₂) is the rotational constant of the B state of Cl_2]. Some values determined in this way are²⁰⁰⁻²⁰² He- Cl_2 [10-(3) cm⁻¹], Ne-Cl₂ [30(3) cm⁻¹], Ar-Cl₂ [185(1) cm⁻¹], $Ne-Br_2$ [70(2) cm⁻¹], $He-I_2$ [18(5) cm⁻¹], $Ne-I_2$ [75-(5) cm⁻¹], Ar-I₂ [235(5) cm⁻¹], Ne-ICl [70(5) cm⁻¹], Ar_2Cl_2 [447.5(35) cm⁻¹], Ar_3-Cl_2 [776(3) cm⁻¹], Kr- Cl_2 [236.6(20) cm⁻¹], and Xe- Cl_2 [286.3(11) cm⁻¹].

Perhaps the most accurate dissociation energy determinations come from recent state-to-state photofragmentation experiments. Dayton, Jucks, and Miller have measured the dissociation energy of $(HF)_2$ to be 1062(1) cm⁻¹, ^{190,191} an increase in accuracy of a factor of 40 over the integrated infrared intensity measurements. An F-center laser vibrationally excites $(HF)_2$ in a beam which is monitored with a bolometer detector. Upon resonance, the dimer predissociates causing the HF fragments to recoil out of the beam, and the event is recorded as a change in translational energy transferred to the detector. By rotation of the bolometer about the laser/beam interaction region, the HF photofragment angular distribution can be measured. The rotational states of the recoiling HF monomers are well separated in energy and both fragments are in their ground vibrational levels. The possible relative translational energy of the fragments are quantized by conservation of energy, which results in a Newton sphere with a well-defined radius for each rotational channel for predissociation. Thus, in the laboratory frame there is a maximum scattering angle (for each rotational channel) which is dependent upon D_0 , and which can then be determined by adjusting it to fit the observed angular scattering pattern. Ar-CO₂, with a dissociation energy of 166(1) cm⁻¹, has also been studied by this photofragmentation technique.²⁰³

I. A New Look at the Simplest Systems: Rare Gas Dimers and Related Species

As the complexity of accessible systems has increased, a recent set of experiments has returned to examining the very simplest of prototypes for weak intermolecular interactions, the rare gas dimers. By incorporating sizable microwave amplification into a pulsed nozzle Fourier-transform microwave spectrometer, Gerry and co-workers have been able to study such small dipole moment systems as Ne–Kr,²⁰⁴ Ne–Xe,²⁰⁵ Ar–Kr,²⁰⁴ Ar–Xe,²⁰⁵ Kr–Xe,²⁰⁵ Ne₂–Kr,²⁰⁶ and Ne₂–Xe.²⁰⁶ A number of rare gas complexes with nonpolar diatomics, viz. Ar–N₂,¹⁶⁶ Ar–Cl₂,⁵⁴ Ar–CO,²⁰⁷ Kr–N₂,²⁰⁸ and CO–Cl₂²⁰⁹ have been studied by this group as well, and all except the linear CO–Cl₂ have T-shaped geometries. Hg–Ar has also been studied by Oshima et al.²¹⁰

For the rare gas dimer systems, only the ground vibrational states were measured, but the equilibrium bond lengths, $r_{\rm e}$'s, were estimated using the abundance of available isotopic data. This provides a particularly clean comparison with the best available potentials for these systems and gives results which are in reasonable agreement with the literature values (although systematically larger by about 0.02-0.03 Å). Harmonic vibrational frequencies and force constants were also estimated from centrifugal distortion data. The force constants were found to roughly parallel the dissociation energies, with that of Ne-Xe < Ar₂ < Kr₂ < Ar-Xe < Kr-Xe, although interestingly, the ordering is switched relative to the dissociation energies for Kr₂ and Ar-Xe.

Some particularly interesting information about electronic rearrangement was also obtained for these systems. By measuring the microwave pulse length required for spectral optimization, (i.e., that needed to create an exact $\pi/2$ pulse), Jäger et al. have been able to give preliminary estimates of the dipole moments of Ne-Kr (0.010 D),²⁰⁴ Ar-Kr (0.004 D),²⁰⁴ Ne-Xe (0.012 D),^{204,205} Ar-Xe (0.014 D),^{204,205} and Kr-Xe (0.007 D).^{204,205} Nuclear quadrupole coupling constants for ¹³¹Xe in Ne-Xe, Ar-Xe, and Kr-Xe were also measured²⁰⁵ (directly from spectral frequencies). Since the free ¹³¹Xe atom is in the ¹S state (with no electric field gradient at the nucleus), the nonzero quadrupole coupling constant is a clean measure of the electronic distortion associated with van der Waals bonding in these (almost) nonpolar dimers. The quadrupole coupling constant of atomic ¹³¹Xe in the 5p⁵6s (${}^{3}P_{2}$) state is -883.8 MHz²¹¹ and corresponds to the electric field gradient at the nucleus when one full p electron is missing from the xenon atom. Even if interpreted strictly as charge transfer, the eqQ(^{131}Xe) in $^{20}Ne^{-131}Xe$ (+0.3878(9) MHz) would represent only 4×10^{-4} of a p electron transferred into the Xe atom from the Ne atom. The measured ¹³¹Xe quadrupole coupling constants are remarkably large, in a sense, as their magnitude is about 10% of that in Xe-HX complexes. (The sign, however, is opposite.) It is clear that even nonmultipolar interactions can produce substantial electronic rearrangement in these systems.

A particularly significant (albeit nonspectroscopic) experiment pertaining to the simplest of rare gas

dimers is also worthy of note. Luo et al.²¹² have recently observed ⁴He₂ by electron impact ionization of a 1 mK supersonic expansion of helium. This brings to rest a long standing controversy over the existence of this species, whose zero point energy is so close to the dissociation limit that only the v = 0J = 0 level exists, and that even the isotopomer ${}^{3}\text{He}-{}^{4}\text{He}$ is not bound. The vibrational wavefunction is astonishingly delocalized with $\langle R \rangle > 50$ Å and a significant amplitude at internuclear separations as large as 200 A! At such large distances, relativistic contributions to the dispersion energy become significant due to the finite time needed to propagate the electric field arising from instantaneous fluctuating dipoles. The influence of this "retardation" effect on the nature of He₂ has been examined.²¹³

III. Larger Clusters

A. Overview

It has always been an explicitly stated goal of work on weakly bound complexes to "bridge the gap" between a detailed understanding of isolated dimeric interactions and our less complete knowledge of bulk phase structures and properties. Significant progress has been made in recent years via the enunciation of the structures of trimeric, tetrameric, and even pentameric weakly bound complexes. By and large, this has been accomplished by exploiting the extreme sensitivity of the time-domain technique of pulsedjet Fourier-transform microwave spectroscopy, though infrared and far-infrared techniques, as well as fluorescence spectroscopy has also made important contributions. An impressive variety of complexes has now been examined. Systems with several rare gas atoms bound to another entity are the simplest and include Ar_nHX (X = F, n = 2-4;²¹⁴⁻²¹⁷ X = Cl, $n = 2,3^{214c,218-220}$), Ar_2CO_2 ,²²¹ Ar_2OCS ,²²² and Ar_2 -HCN.²²³ Electronic spectroscopy, although outside the scope of this review, has made numerous contributions here as well, with Rg_2Cl_2 (Rg = He,²²⁴ Ne²²⁵), $He_2R-C_5H_4$ (R = H, CH_3^{226}), and $Ar_2C_6H_6^{227}$ being but a few representative examples. In addition, a wide variety of "polymolecular" trimers and tetramers containing $HCN^{228-231}$ or the $(HCN)_2$ unit²³²⁻²³⁴ have been studied, as have mixed clusters of H_2O with CO_2 .^{235,236} Several homogeneous trimers such as $(HF)_3$,²³⁷ $(DF)_3$,²³⁸ $(D_2O)_3$,²³⁹ $(H_2O)_3$,²⁴⁰ $(CO_2)_3$,²⁴¹ and $(HCCH)_n$ $(n = 3-5)^{242-245}$ have also been examined at high resolution. A more complete listing of systems investigated is available elsewhere,²⁶ and some representative structures are shown in Figure 3. With the study of these species, a level of complexity unthinkable just a few years ago has been attained, as is illustrated by systems such as H₃N- $HCN-HF^{231}$ and $(CO_2)_3-HCN^{230}$ whose structures have been successfully elucidated by microwave spectroscopy. Clearly, a comprehensive discussion of these species, even at the most cursory level, is beyond the scope of this review, but several systems serve to highlight the types of issues that arise.

The first microwave studies involved the sequential complexation of additional rare gas atoms to the prototypical van der Waals complexes of Ar-HF and Ar-HCl to produce Ar_2HF ,²¹⁴ Ar_3HF ,²¹⁶ Ar_4HF ,²¹⁷



Figure 3. Several representative structures of weakly bound trimers studied by microwave spectroscopy. The atoms in the Ar_n -HF complexes are left unlabeled for n > 1 for the purpose of clarity. References to the original works are given in the text.

Ar₂HCl,²¹⁸ and Ar₃HCl.²²⁰ The Ar₂HX complexes are planar, C_{2v} systems with the hydrogen directed along the bisector of the Ar-Ar bond. Not too surprisingly, in Ar₃HX, the argons form an equilateral triangle, and the HX hydrogen bonds perpendicularly to its face. A fourth argon atom bonds to Ar₃HF on the face of the Ar_3 opposite the HF. A central question in the study of larger clusters is the validity of the additivity approximation for intermolecular potentials. The simplest (and most simplistic) picture of the structures of large clusters is that of "dimers within trimers", and it is of interest to compare, for example, the Ar-Ar distances in the Ar_n -HX complexes with that found in Ar_2 , or the Ar-X distance with those of Ar-HF or Ar-HCl. To the extent that intermolecular potentials are additive and that geometry allows, one expects approximately equal atom-atom distances, independent of the degree of complexation with other species. This is found to be approximately the case for the Ar_nHX systems, with only a slight (a few hundreths of an angstrom) lengthening of the Ar–Ar bond over that of Ar_2 . It is interesting to note that an harmonic force field analysis of centrifugal distortion data for both Ar₂-HF and Ar₂HCl indicates an Ar-Ar stretching frequency which is about 10% lower than that in free $\hat{A}r_{2}$.^{214b,218} A somewhat more surprising result is the virtual constancy of the average HF angular excursion in the series Ar_nHF (n = 1-4) despite the varying number and location of argon atoms. (This constancy, however, does not carry through to the DF species.) The Ar_nHF systems have also been investigated in the infrared, but discussion of those results is deferred to a later section.

In a similar spirit, the systems $Ar_2-CO_2^{221}$ and $Ar-OCS^{222}$ have been examined by microwave spectroscopy. Both $Ar-CO_2$ and Ar-OCS are T-shaped species and thus are able to accept a second argon without imposing additional geometrical constraints on the Ar-C or Ar-Ar distances. To a good approximation, the structure of Ar_2-CO_2 is that of an Ar_2 bound to CO_2 , with each $Ar-CO_2$ structure²⁴⁶ fully respected. The complex has C_{2v} symmetry, with the $D_{\infty h}$ axis of the CO_2 perpendicular to the plane of the isosceles triangle formed by carbon and the two argons. The Ar-C-Ar angle is 66°, with an Ar-Ar distance of 3.8431 Å (compared to 3.822(22) Å in Ar_2^{247}). Moreover, the two Ar-C distances are 3.508

Å, which is quite close to the 3.5048(1) Å weak bond length in Ar-CO₂.²⁴⁶ Interestingly the Ar-Ar stretching frequency in the trimer, 23.5 cm^{-1} , also compares very favorably with the $25.69(1) \text{ cm}^{-1}$ value in Ar₂. Qualitatively similar results are found for Ar₂OCS.²²²

Somewhat larger structural differences have also been observed. (HCN)₃, for example, has been studied in the microwave^{232b} and in the infrared.^{232a} Two isomers have been observed, a linear HCN-HCN-HCN (seen in both the infrared and the microwave) and a nonpolar cyclic form (seen only in the infrared). In the linear species, the weak bonds are contracted by 0.06 Å and 0.05 Å relative to $(HCN)_2$ for the "left" and "right" weak bonds as written above. The dipole moment of $3.54(3)\times 10^{-29}\,Cm\,[10.6(1)\,D]$ is enhanced $6.0\,\times\,10^{-30}$ Cm (1.8 D) over the vector sum of the three vibrating monomers $(2.95 \times 10^{-29} \text{ Cm} = 8.83)$ D), but the enhancement is entirely consistent with that predicted from electrostatic moments and polarizabilities. It is interesting to note that CO_2 , HCN, HCCH, and H₂O all form cyclic trimers, even though the dipole moments of these species vary from 0 to 1 $\times 10^{-29}$ Cm (3 D).

B. Quantitative Probes of Nonadditive Interactions

The structures of higher clusters clearly provide new insights into many body interactions. Structures alone, however, only hint at *energetics* which where the essence of the additivity approximation lies. Moreover, it has been aptly noted^{235a} that even in the hypothetical case of only pairwise interactions, it may be geometrically impossible for trimers to faithfully adhere to dimeric structures, so that differences in bond distances and angles between dimers and trimers may not, of themselves, signal cooperativity. This situation has the advantage, though, of allowing the exploration of regions of the potential not easily accessed by vibrational excitation.

Historically, the investigation of nonadditive interactions has focused on bulk measurements from which the extraction of microscopic information is indeed a difficult problem. Consequently, many workers have turned to *ab initio* quantum chemistry to fill the need for quantitative information about deviations from pairwise additivity. The rare gas trimers, e.g. He₃,²⁴⁸ Ne₃,²⁴⁹ and Ar₃,²⁵⁰ as well as other simple "closed shell" atomic systems such as Be₃²⁵¹ have been investigated. Molecular systems, though more difficult, have also been studied by *ab initio* techniques. Examples include (HF)₃ and (HCl)₃,²⁵² (H₂O)₃,²⁵³ (NH₃)₃,²⁵⁴ and (CH₄)₃,²⁵⁵ Several reviews on nonadditivity are available.²⁵⁶

What are probably the most quantitative experimental studies to date, however, have only recently appeared. In a particularly definitive series of papers by Saykally and co-workers,²¹⁹ paralleled by stateof-the-art theoretical work of Hutson et al.,²⁵⁷ the accurately known $Ar-Ar^{258}$ and Ar-HCl pair potentials²⁵⁹ were exploited to explicitly and quantitatively test the additivity approximation in the complex Ar_2 -HCl. After the original microwave work by Gutowsky and co-workers,^{214c,218} Hutson et al. showed that, although the microwave spectrum of the ground state indeed contained information about three-body

terms, observation of the intermolecular vibrations were necessary before their effects could be reliably assessed.^{257b} Three intermolecular bending states were subsequently measured by far-infrared spectroscopy²¹⁹ and the results thus compared with predictions generated from a purely pairwise additive potential.^{257a} The calcultions indeed showed measurable deviations from experiment which could not be ascribed to computational inaccuracy or deficiencies in the Ar-HCl pair potential. The effects of nonadditive interactions, however, could account for a substantial part of the discrepancies. The interaction between the exchange quadrupole moment of the Ar_2 moiety and multipole moments of the HCl was found to be the most significant three-body term, and its inclusion gave substantially improved (although still not perfect) agreement with the spectroscopic data. In contrast, while the triple dipole interaction, the induced dipole-induced dipole interaction, and the exchange overlap contributions were significant, none was sufficient to account for experimental observations. It is interesting to note, too, that the far infrared data reveal a significant coupling between the motions of the Ar_2 moiety and those of the HCl.^{219b} This directly indicated the need to treat all of the soft degrees of freedom in calculating the spectrum, thus forcing the abandonment of the "reverse adiabatic" approximation employed in earlier theoretical work. The need to explicitly treat all five low-frequency motions certainly demonstrates the dynamical complexity possible in even the simplest of higher clusters!

Along parallel lines, an elegant series of experiments by Nesbitt and co-workers²¹⁵ have examined the HF stretching vibration in the complexes Ar_nHF (n = 1-4). The incremental red shift in the HF stretching frequency for each member of the series depended primarily on its position with respect to the average direction of the HF dipole moment in the complex and could be reasonably accounted for by simple models based on two body effects. A significant radial dependence is also indicated by a negligible (<2%) shift resulting from the addition of the Ar₃ triangle, opposite the HF. By n = 3, nearly half the shift observed in matrix isolated HF was obtained.

In a subsequent paper, the same group performed classical and quantum mechanical calculations on these systems in using a strictly pairwise additive potential.²⁶⁰ The lowest energy structures correctly corresponded to those experimentally determined and a number of isomeric forms not yet observed were also predicted. Although the correct experimental structures were obtained, however, the use of the additivity approximation was found to predict an angular anisotropy for the HF in these systems which steadily increased with cluster size. This latter feature is in direct contradiction to spectroscopic results, indicating that three-body terms may account for the surprising constancy in the angular anisotropy of the HF noted above. As in the case of Ar_2 -HCl, significant coupling of the Ar–Ar stretch, the Ar_n-HF stretch, and the bending of the Ar-Ar subunit was indicated, again underscoring need to

explicitly treat all intermolecular coordinates for these types of systems before quantitative comparisons with spectral data can be made.

It seems clear that the nature of the nonadditive terms will be system dependent and that a substantial cross section of the diverse set of possible interacting systems will need to be examined before a full understanding of three- and higher-body interactions is achieved. Nonetheless, the above infrared and far-infrared studies represent the first truly precise, quantitative, experimental interrogation of nonadditive effects. Indeed it is encouraging that the experimental and theoretical tools developed for dimeric systems have matured to the point that progress toward the detailed understanding of condensed systems is truly in sight.

C. Tunneling Dynamics in Larger Clusters

Studies of larger clusters present the opportunity for even richer tunneling dynamics due to the greater number of equivalent or nearly equivalent minima which are possible. In addition, the apparent propensity of larger clusters to form cyclic geometries offers the chance to study new types of large amplitude motions such as ring puckering and pseudorotation. In $(D_2O)_3$, for example, 96 tunneling pathways are possible, including motions which interconvert right- and left-handed enantiomers of this chiral complex.²³⁹ The potential for many of the homogenous trimers and larger polymers to be nonpolar complicates these studies by preventing higher resolution microwave studies necessary to resolve very small tunneling splittings. In some cases, such as in $(HF)_3$, small centrifugally induced dipole moments give rise to a pure rotational spectrum, but such transitions have not been observed for any of the cyclic trimers or tetramers. The recent successes in observing pure rotational transitions for the extremely weakly polar Ne-Xe, Ar-Xe, and Kr-Xe²⁰⁵ suggest the possibility of future measurement of rotational transitions for the cyclic $(HF)_3$ and $(HF)_4$.

Perhaps the most characterized of the large cluster systems are those involving HCCH where highresolution spectra have been reported for the dimer through the pentamer.^{120-122,124,125,242-245} The dimer structure is found to be T-shaped¹²⁰⁻¹²² and the trimer through pentamer^{242,245} are cyclic. For the larger HCCH clusters, the possibility of isomers has not been well addressed experimentally due to limited signal-to-noise ratio. In these systems as well as in other larger cluster systems, there is an inherent experimental bias toward isomers which have high symmetry since the spectra for symmetrical complexes have many overlapping transitions which effectively increase the signal-to-noise ratio. This might explain why the experimental molecular-beam infrared spectrum of the pentamer gives a cyclic geometry,^{242b} while ab initio calculations suggest a noncyclic C_{2h} minimum resembling the structure of two cyclic C_{3h} acetylene trimer sharing a common acetylene unit.²⁶¹

The infrared spectra of the acetylenic-like asymmetric C—H stretch of the tetramer suggests a rigid cyclic complex.^{242b} The spectroscopic constants have been interpreted in terms of a nonplaner puckeredring geometry with S_4 symmetry. However, *ab initio* calculations by Bone et al.²⁶¹ lead to an alternative interpretation of the infrared spectrum. Their calculations suggest that the minimum energy configuration is C_{4h} instead of S_4 , with an extremely low frequency out-of-plane ring puckering vibration. This low-frequency mode may be complicating the structural interpretation of the tetramer spectrum. It is interesting to speculate that the apparent S_4 structure found experimentally may be the result of a slight dynamical stabilization of the S_4 configuration over the C_{4h} configuration upon excitation of the C-H stretch. Similar dynamic effects have been proposed to explain the observed dipole moment for the " C_{2h} " (NH₃)₂.²⁶²

IV. Modeling the Interactions

From a practical standpoint, an important goal of the study of intermolecular forces is the development of accessible means of predicting the nature of intermolecular interactions in systems which have not been previously studied, or which are intrinsically too complicated to calculate from first principles. Ab *initio* theory has made significant progress in small to moderate sized complexes, but noteworthy problems still exist. Electrostatic modeling is inherently less correct, but offers a real alternative, with relatively little restriction imposed by the size of the system.

A. Electrostatic Models

The crudest chemical approach to potential modeling the attractive part of an intermolecular would be the assignment of partial charges to the constituent atomic centers. The crudest physical approach would be the use of the first few terms in a multipole expansion to describe each molecular charge distribution. In 1981, Stone advanced a combination of these approaches,²⁶³ in which a multipole expansion centered at each atomic site is used. Additional multipoles may also be placed at bond centers as needed. Such a distributed multipole analysis (DMA) enjoys the advantage of more rapidly converging to an approximation of the electric field about a molecule. The multipoles are calculated so as to reproduce the *ab initio* charge distribution and thus, in a sense, the method amounts to an efficient encoding of the true charge density, which need only by calculated once for each monomer.

The surface of convergence for the electric field resulting from the distributed multipoles is tight enough to be useful for pairs of molecules involved in weak complexation. The method can certainly be criticized on fundamental grounds,²⁶⁴ as it is clear that any partitioning of the exact Hamiltonian for a van der Waals complex will involve some terms other than purely electrostatic ones (see for example ref 265). Nonetheless, the DMA charge distribution, coupled with an arbitrary repulsive surface does surprisingly well at reproducing geometries and induced electrostatic moments of many weakly bound complexes. Indeed the electrostatic description of weak interactions has become something of the language of choice, at least for the more strongly bound systems, and appears to have largely replaced the older HOMO/LUMO picture (see, for example, refs 48 and 266). The latter, of course, in its usual application, does not involve computation of optimum structures, although it is worth noting that it still provides qualitative insights useful to some. Quantitative aspects of this more chemical viewpoint have also been developed.¹¹

Many of the first successes of the DMA electrostatic models were presented by Buckingham and Fowler in 1985.²⁶⁷ In that work, a short-range repulsion, represented as hard spheres, was added to the potential. Equilibrium structures were calculated by a minimization of the electrostatic interaction energy subject to the constraint of the hard spheres; no polarizabilities were included. Structures were deduced for 29 complexes and found to be in essential agreement with experiment. For example, the complex between HF and formaldehyde is experimentally determined to have the HF hydrogen bonded to oxygen with a C–O–F angle of 109.5° and an O–F distance of 2.66 Å. 268,269 Buckingham and Fowler find this qualitative structure with an angle of 110° and an O-F distance of 2.75 Å, set by their rather unforgiving hard spheres. One might expect a hydrogen bonded complex to be well modeled by this method, but even a non-hydrogen bonded example, the skewed parallel structure of the $(CO_2)_2$ is qualitatively predicted with a C–C–O angle of about 70° . The experimental value (determined some time after the prediction) was found to be 58.2(8)°.270-272

Missing from this model is the inclusion of polarizability, and there is also the troubling problem of the arbitrary short-range repulsive addition to the potential. Distributed polarizabilities were intro-duced by Stone in 1985.²⁷³ Spackman has introduced a rational method of modeling the shorter range terms in the potential in terms of atom-atom potentials,²⁷⁴ and has successfully applied his method to hydrogen bonded complexes.²⁷⁵ Dykstra has similarly modeled the short range terms with an "augmenting potential" which is Lennard-Jones-like and is based on combining rules over individual atomassociated constants.^{276,277} Rather than using the distributed multipole approach, however, Dykstra includes in the electrical part of the potential properties like the single center multipoles, the dipole polarizability (energy response to the square of the electric field, \mathbf{E}), the dipole-quadrupole polarizability (energy response to the product $\mathbf{E} \nabla \mathbf{E}$), the quadrupole polarizability (energy response to the square of $\nabla \mathbf{E}$), and the dipole hyperpolarizability (energy response to the cube of \mathbf{E}). This model reproduces, for example, the correct structures for Ar₃-HF and Ar₄-HF with the H pointing toward the tringular face of Ar_3 and one face of the Ar_4 tetrahedron, respectively. Electrostatic modeling of intermolecular potentials has recently been extensively reviewed.²⁴

B. The Role of ab Initio Calculations

Ab initio electronic structure calculations are playing an increasingly important role in the advancement of our knowledge of intermolecular interactions. The ability to arbitrarily sample any region of the intermolecular potential surface provides capabilities not easily obtained from experiment, although as we have noted above, accurate experimental potentials now exist for a few simple systems over a wide range of monomer orientations.^{22,175,179–181,259}

The choice of basis functions and level and manner of treatment of electron correlation is a subject of considerable examination. The supermolecule calculation, correcting basis set superposition error by the Boys counterpoise procedure, is becoming relatively widespread. With the commercial availability of effective electron structure computation packages and quite adequate computer work stations, an increasing number of virtually whole potentials now exist. For Ar_2 , about 95% of the well depth is obtained with large spdfgh type basis and either MP4 or CCSD(T) level of theory. A large basis calculation of $(H_2O)_2$ at a single nuclear configuration indicates that correlation accounts for about 40% of the binding energy, D_0 . It is not obvious, however, whether the basis sets and levels of theory employed to model these system will be the most suitable for the more strongly bound van der Waals complexes.

A promising method which keeps the size of the basis set manageable uses midbond functions.²⁷⁸ This procedure appears to be especially useful for the anisotropy. Global potentials including the dependence upon H—F bond length have been produced for Ar-HF,^{279,280} Ar-H₂O,²⁸⁰ and Ar-NH₃²⁸⁰ which are in very good accord with the above described semiempirical potentials. The attractiveness of perturbation methods is somewhat mitigated by the complexity induced by the electron antisymmetry requirement.²⁸¹ However, the apparent physical clarity of the individual energy contributions is likely to produce demands for an increase in this form of presentation.

It is not surprising that dimers of the first row hydrides, with their relatively small number of electrons, have attracted a significant amount of the attention among quantum chemists.²⁸² Indeed, the dimers of two of the first row hydrides, H₂O and HF, have served as model systems for the development and testing of *ab initio* methods for studying hydrogen bonding while the dimer of BH₃ has given rise to the concept of a bridged hydrogen bond. The most extensive calculations have been undertaken on $(H_2O)_2{}^{283}$ and $(HF)_2{}^{55}$ The calculations have met with considerable success at reproducing the experimental geometry and the qualitative features of the tunneling dynamics in these systems and hence led to the expectation that ab initio methods would be able to explain the rather surprising non-hydrogen bonded structure for the related first row hydride dimer, $(NH_3)_2$.⁹¹⁻⁹³ This has turned out not to be the case, however. Similar approaches applied to $(NH_3)_2$ have led to a variety of geometries, and have raised questions about the correctness of the theoretical and experimental geometries.²⁸⁴ Until recently, ab initio calculations^{285–293} almost universally gave a hydrogen bonded structure for this sytem, in which a hydrogen of one NH₃ unit was directed toward the lone-pair orbital of the other, analogous to the structures found for $(H_2O)_2,^{283}$ $(H_2O)_3,^{283}$ and $(HF)_2.^{55}$ Indeed, the problems surrounding (NH₃)₂ will need to be addressed in order to have confidence in the application

of *ab initio* methods to more complex interactions such as those found in biological systems.

It has been discussed²⁶² that the origin of the incorrect geometry in $(NH_3)_2$ is due to the more rapid convergence of the dispersion energy for configurations in which a hydrogen, with its bond function, is located between the nitrogens. Configurations near the C_{2h} geometry with standard atom center basis functions are not as converged in the dispersion energy. Large basis set correlated calculations which supplement the typical atom centered basis set with bond functions between the nitrogen nuclei give a C_{2h} geometry for the dimer.²⁶² Giving further confidence to this approach is the ability of these types of calculations to reproduce accurately many of the features of the experimental Ar-HF, Ar-H₂O, and Ar-NH₃ pair potentials.²⁹⁴

The origin of an electric dipole moment in the observed " C_{2h} " (NH₃)₂ rotational spectrum⁹¹⁻⁹³ is assumed to be due to the fact that the observed states arise from two inequivalent NH₃ units, differing in nuclear spin and in angular momentum about the 3-fold axis.²⁶² More recent Stark effect measurements⁹⁹ reveal very small dipole moments for states in which the two tops have the same degree of internal excitation. Verification of these results will require calculating a complete potential surfaces for the C_{2h} dimer and modeling of the dynamics on the surface to calculate electric dipole and nuclear quadrupole hyperfine constants. Such an approach has been undertaken on an ab initio potential which gives a hydrogen bonded minimum for the dimer.⁹⁶ Multidimensional nuclear dynamics calculations for several potential surfaces have been made.²⁹⁵ They presently indicate a preference for a hydrogen bonded minimum energy configuration with very small interchange barrier. Since explicit distance dependence of the potential anisotropy is important, however, it is likely that this problem will remain active and argumentative for some time.

C. When Do Experiments Become Unnecessary?

As *ab initio* calculations improve in accuracy with increased computational power, it is expected that in the future many of the questions now being addressed experimentally will be more efficiently attacked by theory. It is becoming clear, for instance, for the more strongly bound complexes, that ab initio theory can predict the minimum energy geometries accurately. In some sense, this has made qualitative features of geometry a less important issue experimentally. However, as the systems become less anisotropic and more weakly bound, such as in $(NH_3)_2$, the results of *ab initio* calculations are not viewed as reliably. As $(NH_3)_2$ has shown us, the problem often breaks down to how to make the comparison between theory and experiment in the face of complications posed by the large-amplitude motions. Thus, at least for a while, limiting the utility of the *ab initio* calculations for moderately complex systems will be the difficulty of doing the dynamical modeling on the surfaces. Increasingly in the future, more effort will be required to understand the vibrational problem to allow for meaningful

comparisons to be made between experiment and *ab initio* theory.

V. Chemistry through Clusters

An interesting application of high-resolution work on weakly bound systems has involved the study of species which correspond to intermediate stages in "chemical" transformations. In some cases, these have been species with only one important minimum in the potential energy surface, but whose bonding is, by some criterion, intermediate between van der Waals and ionic or covalent. In other cases, they are species trapped in a high-energy local minimum along the reaction path for some chemical process and *are* themselves reactive intermediates. In either case, such species have become experimentally accessible and their study has offered some interesting new perspectives on chemistry and bonding.

A. Weak Bonding vs Chemical Interactions

In principle, there is nothing to prohibit a continuous transition from van der Waals to covalent or ionic bonding. Yet the majority of common interactions fall more-or-less into these two broad categories. Over two decades ago, however, it was recognized that a continuous range of behavior between the chemical and nonchemical limits can indeed be realized in crystals. Bent, for example, collected crystallographic data and showed that, depending on the compound, the distances between the same two atoms could vary almost continuously between those expected for van der Waals and covalent interactions.²⁹⁶ In the crystalline adducts of I2 with dithiane, tetrahydroselenophene, and di-p-dichlorophenyltellurium iodide, for example, the I-I bond lengths varied from 2.79 to 2.91 to 3.85 Å, respectively, a range bracketed by the 2.67 Å bond length in free I_2 and the 4.30 Å sum of the iodine van der Waals radii. Analogous variations in bond angles were ubiquitous.

More recently, Legon and co-workers have used the pulsed nozzle Fourier transform microwave technique to examine proton transfer in series of gas phase complexes of the form R_3N-HX . Since the proton is generally hard to locate, the degree of proton transfer was assessed not structurally, but rather by examination of intermolecular stretching force constants and nitrogen and halogen nuclear quadrupole coupling constants. In H₃N-HCl²⁹⁷ for instance, both the force constant and the ³⁵Cl quadrupole coupling constants are significantly closer to those observed in the hydrogen bonded complex HCN-HCl than to those in the gas phase ion pair Na⁺Cl⁻. Indeed, the force constant is commensurate with that expected for a weakly bound complex, and the ³⁵Cl quadrupole coupling constant can be reasonably well calculated using *ab initio* response tensors for the HCl, and a distributed multipole description of the NH₃. Methylation of the ammonia, however, which makes the amine a better electron pair donor, produces observable progress toward the ionic limit. Thus, in $(CH_3)_3N$ -HCl, eqQ (^{35}Cl) is significantly closer to that in Na⁺Cl⁻ than in HCN–HCl, and the stretching force constant is 4 times larger than that predicted for a weakly bound system.²⁹⁸ It is clear, then, that the ionic form $(CH_3)_3NH^+Cl^-$ must be an important part of the description of the complex, although a quantitative assessment of the degree of ionic character has not yet been possible. Similarly, in the series $(CH_3)_3N-HX$ (X = F,²⁹⁹ Cl,²⁹⁸ Br,³⁰⁰ I³⁰¹), the proton affinity of the halogen decreases going down the periodic table, and the degree of ionic character of the complex correspondingly increases. Here, crude estimates of the percent proton transfer can be made from the quadrupole coupling constants, and the results, using the halogen coupling constants, indicate a steady increase from 62% in the HCl complex to 93% in the HI complex! The fascinating work on these and related systems has been reviewed in great detail elsewhere.^{23b}

The intermediate regime between van der Waals and covalent bonding has recently been investigated by Dvorak et al.³⁰² and Reeve et al.³⁰³ in microwave spectroscopic studies of the donor-acceptor adducts CH_3CN-BF_3 and $HCN-BF_3$. The observed B-Nbond lengths in these species are 2.011(7) and 2.47-(3) Å, respectively, and sharply differ from the limiting van der Waals and covalent bond B-N bond lengths of 2.88 and 1.64 Å, respectively. Moreover, in CH_3CN-BF_3 , the out-of-plane deformation of the BF_3 is 5.6(6)°, while the corresponding change in the HCN complex is between 0 and 3°. Clearly, from a structural standpoint, these complexes lie between the weakly bound and covalent limits. Interestingly, however, despite the 0.46 Å difference in bond lengths, the stretching force constants are equal to within 10%, and both values are well within the range characteristic of truly weakly bound systems. The calculated binding energies are 24^{304a} and 22 kJ/mol^{304b} for the CH₃CN and HCN adducts, respectively, and are also nearly equal, yet they are slightly stronger than that for a typical van der Waals interaction such as that in NCCN-BF₃, whose binding energy is only 13 kJ/mol.^{303a} The quadrupole coupling constant of the boron in the HCN complex is virtually identical to that in the weakly bound species Ar-BF₃,³⁰⁵ but that for the CH₃CN adduct is measurably less. It is clear from these results that different physical properties evolve at significantly different rates as a van der Waals bond is transformed into a chemical bond.³⁰³

Another species of interest along these lines is the complex $SiF_4-NH_3^{306}$ which has also been observed by pulsed nozzle FT microwave spectroscopy.^{306a} Here, the $F_{axial}-Si-F_{equatorial}$ angle is distorted by 12° from the tetrahedral angle, and the dipole moment of the complex is enhanced by 1.381(3) × 10⁻²⁹ Cm (4.14(1) D) over the sum of the monomer moments! *Ab initio* calculations^{306b} place the binding energy at 43.9 kJ/mol, making the interaction stronger than a van der Walls bond, but weaker than a normal chemical bond. The origin of the dipole moment enhancement has been investigated³⁰⁷ and appears to be due to the geometric distortion of the SiF₄ and the large polarity of the (predominantly ionic) Si-F bond.

B. New Connections to Crystallography

Normally, crystallization of a system of isolated, gas phase molecules produces little discernable change in intramolecular bond lengths and bond angles. Typical gas-solid structure differences are on the order of 0.01 Å for bond lengths and 0.1° for angles.³⁰⁸ For particularly weak bonds, however, this is not necessarily the case, as clearly demonstrated by the CH_3CN and HCN adducts of BF_3 , described above. Both CH₃CN-BF₃ and HCN-BF₃ form molecular crystals, and a remarkable feature of these systems is that they exhibit enormous differences in structure between the gas phase and solid state. The formation of the molecular crystal of CH₃CN-BF₃, for example, is accompanied by a 0.381(11) Å contraction of the BN bond, and a 10° widening of the NBF angle. Although the complex is the intermediate type in the vapor phase, the crystal is comprised of covalently bonded units with a 1.630(4) Å B-N bond distance and a tetrahedral geometry at the boron. A recent crystallographic study of $HCN-BF_3^{309}$ has shown a similar structure and, since the gas phase bond length is significantly longer than that in the acetonitrile complex, the shortening of the bond upon crystallization is 0.835(31) Å! These are enormous effects by any measure and it is likely that they are closely connected with the "intermediate" nature of the gas phase bonds. Due to the electron deficiency of the boron in BF_3 , the systems have a built in propensity to form new bonds, and the degree to which this occurs may be tuned either chemically or environmentally. In the latter case, the act of assembling the crystal lattice in effect drives the formation of covalent bonds, quite possibly by cooperative electrostatic effects and/or the added compactness associated with smaller subunits.

While the gas-solid structure differences of the BF₃ adducts are particularly dramatic, such effects are not entirely without precedent. An excellent example is the donor-acceptor adduct $(CH_3)_3N-SO_2$, whose gas phase and solid state crystal structures have been determined by Kuczkowski and co-workers.³¹⁰ The N-S bond length in the gas phase was found to be 0.21 Å larger than that in crystal, again indicating a significant environmental perturbation on an intramolecular bond. By using ab initio calculations and the known X-ray crystal structure, it was shown that the combination of a relatively flat potential minimum and a sharply rising dipole moment function could allow the total added dipolar interaction energy in the solid to exceed the energetic cost of contracting the N-S bond. Although the authors commented that the calculations were only approximate, the qualitative agreement with experiment nicely showed the feasibility of such a mechanism, at least in that case. Further calculations for this system have indicated that the enthalpy of formation is 44.8 kJ/mol and that the N–S bond has a significant ionic component.³¹¹

C. "Reaction Paths" from Complexes

The ability to observe interactions which vary between the van der Waals and covalent limits permits a new twist on the study of chemical reaction dynamics. Following Bent's observation of the wide variations in bonding in crystalline systems, Bürgi and Dunitz and co-workers introduced the so-called "structure correlation" method for following the



Figure 4. A plot of the B-N bond length vs the N-B-F (or N-B-H) angle for the addition complexes of BF₃ and BH₃ with nitrogen donors. Open squares represent gas phase data, and solid squares correspond to crystallographic results. (Reprinted from 302. Copyright 1992 American Chemical Society.)

changes which occur during the course of a chemical reaction.³¹² The idea was that within a series of related crystalline compounds, key structural parameters (e.g., bond lengths and/or angles) could be identified, and their continuous, correlated variations (when observed), could be interpreted as a depiction of the reaction path for some simple chemical transformation. Interestingly, one of the early examples of this so-called "structure correlation method" involved the hydrogen bond. Using results from neutron diffraction studies on series of crystals containing collinear or nearly collinear hydrogen bonds, the O-H bond lengths in the O_1 -H- - O_2 moiety were found to vary from roughly 0.9 to >2 Å. The systematic correlation between the O_1 -H and H- O_2 bond lengths was interpreted as a glimpse of the reaction path for proton transfer. These types of studies have been widely applied to crystalline systems, giving "reaction paths" which are generally consistent with chemical intuition.³¹²

Figure 4 shows an analogous plot for BF_3 systems with nitrogen donors, and it is clear that the distortion angle of BF_3 is well correlated with the B-Ndistance. Thus, by borrowing established ideas from the solid state, the plot may be interpreted as a depiction of the reaction path for the formation of a B-N bond. If such an interpretation is correct, one can infer, for example, that when the nitrogen donor has reached half-way between the van der Waals and covalent bond distances, the BF₃ has distorted only about 5°. Stated differently, most of the electronic reorganization at the boron which accompanies the formation of the dative bond does so in the second half (last 0.5 Å) of the approach. We note that underlying this method of mapping reaction paths is the assumption that the progression of structures corresponding to a series of related but distinct compounds does indeed correspond to the changes which take place when a *particular* compound forms. A critical test of this assumption has not been possible for the crystal phase data, since the molecules involved have generally been quite complex. These simple gas phase systems, however, are particularly amenable to ab initio calculations of the reaction path, and the necessary comparison has thus become feasible. Calculations of the reactions paths

for the $BF_3 + NH_3$ and $BF_3 + HCN$ systems are currently in progress.³¹³

D. Observation of Real Chemical Intermediates

Other studies have focused directly on the observation of complexes which act as intermediate stages in more complex chemical transformations. Perhaps the best example involves the ozonolysis of ethylene. This reaction has been well studied in both the gas and solution phase³¹⁴ and appears to proceed via the initial 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of the ozone across the double bond to form a "primary ozonide". This species is unstable and undergoes a cycloreversion reaction to give an aldehyde, and the so-called "Criegee intermediate", $> C^+ - O^- O^-$, which then recombine to form a secondary ozonide. The structures of the ozonides appear previously to have been derived largely by inference from a variety of chemical and spectroscopic data, but the primary ozonide has recently been thoroughly characterized by rotational spectroscopy.³¹⁵ By allowing ozone and ethylene to co-condense and then warm in a waveguide cell, Gillies et al. were able to observe the unstable primary ozonide by microwave and millimeter wave spectroscopy. An impressive characterization of the lowest energy conformation was possible, as was a measurement of the dipole moment and an estimate of the barrier to pseudorotation (ring twisting). The use of deuterium substituted ethylene demonstrated the stereospecificity of the addition of O_3 to the double bond.

The weakly bound complex between ozone and ethylene was later investigated by the same group.³¹⁶ This time, using pulsed nozzle FT microwave spectroscopy, a shallow van der Waals minimum in the reaction path, occurring prior to the formation of the primary ozonide, was characterized. The complex has C_s symmetry with the planes of the ozone and the ethylene nearly parallel and an internal motion corresponding, at least in part, to 180° rotation of the C_2H_4 about its C_2 axis perpendicular to its plane. The observed structure, which corresponds to a π -type complex, is stereochemically quite similar to the transition state leading to the primary ozonide, and suggests that the nature of the van der Waals species can exert significant influence on the stereochemical outcome of the reaction. It is interesting to note how, although electrostatic pictures of weak interactions have largely overtaken the older HOMO-LUMO picture, the latter reenters the description as the bridge to chemical interactions is made. Figure 5 shows the detailed structural information about the course of ozonide formation which is now available from microwave spectroscopy.

A variety of other systems have been examined which are essentially van der Waals in character, but which are formed between molecules which normally react under bulk conditions. Only by virtue of short mixing times and the collision-free environment of the supersonic jet can these species be isolated. The ammonium halides and the BF₃ adducts are, of course, similar in this sense, but the chemistry of the "real chemical intermediates" is not as simple, and cannot be reversed by "evaporation". Examples of systems of this type are H_3P-Cl_2 ,³¹⁷ CH₃NC-HX (X



Reaction Coordinate

Figure 5. Illustration of structures at various points along the reaction path for the ozonolysis of ethylene. (Reprinted from 316a. Copyright 1991 American Chemical Society.)

= F, Cl),^{318,319} and $(CH_2)_2O-HCl.^{320}$ Phosphine, for example, reacts violently with Cl_2 to form $H_2PCl +$ HCl. One possible mechanism involves, first, the formation of an H_3P-Cl_2 adduct, followed by charge transfer to form an $[H_3PC1]^+C1^-$ intermediate, which subsequently eliminates HCl. The primary van der Waals adduct, has been observed,³¹⁷ but the charge transfer adduct itself remains undetected in the gas phase. Whether it exists without the benefit of solvent stabilization, of course, is an open question.³¹⁷

VI. Conclusion

Two decades ago, when the first microwave spectra of weakly bound complexes were obtained, it was hard to predict the scope of the field which was to grow out of these measurements. Many goals were set: Understanding the origins of intermolecular forces at a modern level, making the extension to many-body interactions and condensed phase systems, and meeting the clear need to develop formalisms for treating the multicoordinate large amplitude vibration problem. The study of infrared and optical photodissociation introduced an irreversible link to chemical dynamics, and many questions about predissociation rates and the dependence of the interactions on monomer excitation arose. Today, it is quite pleasing to see that so much of the effort spent toward meeting these early goals is actually coming to fruition. The ability to extract accurate potentials from spectroscopic data has been clearly demonstrated, and the complexity of systems which are tractable is growing rapidly. With it, the ability to make concrete statements about many-body interactions is finally possible. Predictive methods are becoming increasingly routine, and it is not too

unreasonable to hope that they may be soon be able to replace some experiments at a reasonable level of accuracy. Finally, the use of experimental and theoretical tools developed for studying weakly bound systems is finding application in elucidating at a new level of detail the molecular processes involved in chemical reactions. All in all, the study of weakly bound systems has been an exciting endeavor and is likely to remain one for some time to come!

VII. References

- (1) (a) Heaven, M. C. Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. **1992**, 43, 283. (b) Heaven, M. C. J. Phys. Chem. **1993**, 97, 8567.
- Winn, J. S. Acc. Chem. Res. 1981, 14, 341
- Legon, A. C. Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. 1983, 34, 275. (3)
- (4) Dyke, T. R. Top. Curr. Chem. 1984, 120, 86.
- (5) Peterson, K. I.; Fraser, G. T.; Nelson, D. D., Jr.; Klemperer, W. In Comparison of Ab Initio Quantum Chemistry with Experiment for Small Molecules: The State of the Art; Bartlett, R. J., Ed.; Reidel Holland Kluwer Academic: Dordrecht, the Netherlands, 1985; p 217.
- (6) Celii, F. G.; Janda, K. C. Chem. Rev. 1986, 86, 507.
 (7) Legon, A. C.; Millen, D. J. Chem. Rev. 1986, 86, 635.
 (7) D. D. D. D. D. Chem. Comp. 2001
- (8) Miller, R. E. J. Phys. Chem. 1986, 90, 3301.
- Nelson, D. D., Jr.; Fraser, G. T.; Klemperer, W. Science 1987, (9)
- 238, 1670. (10) Structure and Dynamics of Weakly Bound Molecular Complexes, NATO Advanced Workshop on Structure and Dynamics of Weakly Bound Molecular Complexes, Maratea, Italy; Weber, A., Ed.; D. Reidel Publishing Co.: Drodrecht, 1986.
- (11) Reed, A. E.; Curtiss, L. A.; Weinhold, F. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88, 899.
- (12) (a) Miller, R. E. Science 1988, 240, 447. (b) Casassa, M. P. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88, 815.
- (13) Curtiss, L. A.; Blander, M. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88, 827.
 (14) Hobza, P.; Zahradnik, R. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88, 871.
- (15) Nesbitt, D. J. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88, 843.
- (16) Bacic, Z.; Light, J. C. Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. 1989, 40, 469.
- (17) Novick, S. E.; Leopold, K. R.; Klemperer, W. In Atomic and Molecular Clusters; Bernstein, E. R., Ed.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 1990; p 359.
- (18) Hutson, J. M. Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. 1990, 41, 123.
- (19) Hutson, J. M. Adv. Mol. Vib. Collision Dyn. 1991, 1, 1.

- (20) Fraser, G. T. Int. Rev. Phys. Chem. 1991, 10, 189.
- (21) Cohen, R. C.; Saykally, R. J. Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. 1991, 42, 369
- (22) Cohen, R. C.; Saykally, R. J. J. Phys. Chem. 1992, 96, 1024.
 (23) (a) Legon, A. C.; Millen, D. J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1992, 21, 71. (b) Legon, A. C. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1993, 22, 153.
- (24) Dykstra, C. E. Chem. Rev. 1993, 93, 2339.
- (25) Saykally, R. J.; Blake, G. A. Science 1993, 259, 1570.
- (26) Copies of this bibliography are available on request via electronic mail from S. E. Novick (snovick@wesleyan.edu). (27) Campbell, E. J.; Buxton, L. W.; Legon, A. C. J. Chem. Phys. 1983,
- 78, 3483
- Leopold, K. R.; Fraser, G. T.; Lin, F. J.; Nelson, D. D., Jr.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. **1984**, 81, 4922. (28)
- Klots, T. D.; Dykstra, C. E.; Gutowsky, H. S. J. Chem. Phys. (29)1989, 90, 30.
- (30) Bumgarner, R. E.; Blake, G. A. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1989, 161, 308.
- (31) Fraser, G. T.; Pine, A. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 91, 3319.
- (32) Clary, D. C.; Dateo, C. E.; Stoecklin, T. J. Chem. Phys. 1990, 93, 7666.
- (33) Cooksy, A. L.; Drucker, S.; Faeder, J.; Gottlieb, C. A.; Klemperer, (35) Cooks, N. L., Diacker, S., Facuel S., Otten, C. A., Heinperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 95, 3017.
 (34) Yaron, D.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 95, 1907.
 (35) Mladenovic, M.; Bacic, Z. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 94, 4988.
 (36) Germann, T. C.; Emilsson, T.; Gutowsky, H. S. The Ohio State

- Symposium on Molecular Spectroscopy, 1991; Abstract FA3.
- (37) (a) Drucker, S.; Cooksy, A. L.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys.
 1993, 98, 5158. (b) Here, and in most cases throughout this article, uncertainties in reported numbers are given as they appear in the original work. When numbers were not assigned uncertainties in the original literature, none are reported here.
- (38) Gutowsky, H. S.; Keen, J. D.; Germann, T. C.; Emilsson, T.; Augspurger, J. D.; Dykstra, C. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 98, 6801.
 (39) Drucker, S.; Klemperer, W. Work in progress.
 (40) Del con B. L. Munter, J. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1990, 72, 6020.

- (40) DeLeon, R. L.; Muenter, J. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1980, 72, 6020.
 (41) Oshima, Y.; Iida, M.; Endo, Y. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1989, 161, 202.
- (42) Hu, T. A.; Prichard, D. G.; Sun, L. H.; Muenter, J. S.; Howard, B. J. J. Mol. Spectrosc. 1992, 153, 486.
- Oshima, Y.; Matsumoto, Y.; Takami, M.; Kuchitsu, K. J. Chem. (43)Phys. 1993, 99, 8385.
- (44) Slee, T.; Le Roy, R. J.; Chuaqui, C. E. Mol. Phys. 1992, 77, 111.
- (45) Miller, R. E. Work in progress.
 (46) Bemish, R. J.; Block, P. A.; Pedersen, L. G.; Yang, W.; Miller, R. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 99, 8585.
- (47) For argon bound to more complex species, however, isomeric forms have indeed been observed. See, for example Lapierre, L.; Frye, D.; Dai, H.-L. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 96, 2703.
- (48) Harris, S. J.; Novick, S. E.; Klemperer, W.; Falconer, W. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1974, 61, 193.
- (49) (a) Novick, S. E.; Harris, S. J.; Janda, K. C.; Klemperer, W. Can. J. Phys. 1975, 53, 2007. (b) Buxton, L. W.; Campbell, E. J.; Flygare, W. H. Chem. Phys. 1981, 59, 55.
- (50) (a) Saenger, K. L.; McClelland, G. M.; Herschbach, D. R. J. Phys. Chem. 1981, 85, 3333. (b) Burde, D. H.; McFarlane, R. A.; Wiesenfeld, J. R. Phys. Rev. A 1974, 10, 1917. (c) Philippoz, J. M.; van den Bergh, H.; Monot, R. J. Phys. Chem. **1987**, *91*, 2545. (d) Kubiak, G.; Fitch, P. S. H.; Wharton, L.; Levy, D. H. J. Chem. Phys. 1978, 68, 4477. (e) Sharfin, K. E.; Levy, D. H. J. Chem. Phys. 1981, 74, 163.
- (51)Valentini, J. J.; Cross, J. B. J. Chem. Phys. 1982, 77, 572.

- (51) Valentin, 5. 5., 5. (1985), 5. (1987), 1992, 1992, 1992, 1992, 1992, 1992, 1992, 1992, 1992, 1992, 1992, 1992, 1992, 1992, 1992, 1992, 1993, 1992, 1993, 1992, 1993, 1992, 1993, 1992, 1993, 1992, 1993, 1992, 1993, 1992, 1993, 1992, 1993, 1992, 1993, 1992, 1993, 199 98, 3726.
- (55) An extensive review on (HF)2 spectroscopy, dynamics, and theory is given by: Truhlar, D. G. In Proceedings of the NATO Workshop on the Dynamics of Polyatomic van der Waals Complexes. NATO Ser. B 1990, 227, 159.
 (56) Dyke, T. R.; Howard, B. J.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1972,
- 56, 2442
- (57) Barton, A. E.; Howard, B. J. Faraday Discuss. Chem. Soc. 1982, 73, 45.
- (58) Pine, A. S.; Lafferty, W. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1983, 78, 2154.
- (59) Pine, A. S.; Lafferty, W. J.; Howard, B. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1984, 81, 2939.
- (60) Howard, B. J.; Dyke, T. R.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1984, 81.5417
- (61) Mills, I. M. J. Phys. Chem. 1984, 88, 532.
- Gutowsky, H. S.; Chuang, C.; Keen, J. D.; Klots, T. D.; Emilsson, (62)T. J. Chem. Phys. 1985, 83, 2070.
- (63) Hougen, J. T.; Ohashi, N. J. Mol. Spectrosc. 1985, 109, 134.
 (64) Hancock, G. W.; Rejto, P.; Steckler, R.; Brown, F. B.; Schwenke,
- D. W.; Truhlar, D. G. J. Chem. Phys. 1986, 85, 4997
- (65)von Puttkamer, K.; Quack, M. Faraday Discuss. Chem. Soc. **1986**, *82*, 377. Lafferty, W. J.; Suenram, R. D.; Lovas, F. J. J. Mol. Spectrosc.
- (66)1987, 123, 434
- (a) Pine, A. S. In Structure and Dynamics of Weakly Bound (67)Molecular Complexes; Weber, A., Ed.; Reidel: Boston, 1987; p

93. (b) Pine, A. S., Fraser, G. T. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 89, 6636. (c) Fraser, G. T.; Pine, A. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 91, 633.
 (68) von Puttkamer, K.; Quack, M. Mol. Phys. 1987, 62, 1047.

- (69) von Puttkamer, K.; Quack, M.; Suhm, M. A. Mol. Phys. 1988, 65, 1025.
- (70) Hancock, G. H.; Truhlar, D. G.; Dykstra, C. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 88, 1786.
- (71) Kofranek, M.; Lischka, H.; Karpfen, A. Chem. Phys. 1988, 121, 137.
- (72) Bunker, P. R.; Kofranek, M.; Lischka, H.; Karpfen, A. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 89, 3002.
 (73) Hancock, G. H.; Truhlar, D. G. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 90, 3498.
- (74) von Puttkamer, K.; Quack, M.; Suhm, M. A. Infrared Phys. 1989, 29, 535.
- (75) von Puttkamer, K.; Quack, M. Chem. Phys. 1989, 139, 31
- (76) Bunker, P. R.; Carrington, T., Jr.; Gomez, P. C.; Marshall, M. D.; Kofranek, M.; Lischka, H.; Karpfen, A. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 91. 5154.
- (77) Fraser, G. T. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 90, 2097.
- (78) Suhm, M. A.; Farrell, J. T., Jr.; McIlroy, A.; Nesbitt, D. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 97, 5341.
 (79) Laush, C.; Lisy, J. M.; Huisken, F.; Kulcke, A. J. Chem. Phys.
- 1993, 98, 5982.
- (80) (a) Chang, H.-C.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 98, 9266.
- (a) Nelson, D. D., Jr.; Fraser, G. T.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1994, 100, 1.
 (a) Nelson, D. D., Jr.; Fraser, G. T.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1985, 83, 945.
 (b) Taleb-Bendiab, A.; Hillig, K. W., II; Kuczkowski, R. L. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 94, 6956. (81)
- (82) Ohashi, N.; Pine, A. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1984, 81, 73.
 (83) (a) Moazzen-Ahmadi, N.; McKellar, A. R. W.; Johns, J. W. C. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1988, 151, 318. (b) Moazzen-Ahmadi, N.; McKellar, A. R. W.; Johns, J. W. C. J. Mol. Spectrosc. 1989, 138. 282.
- (84) Blake, G. A.; Busarow, K. L.; Cohen, R. C.; Laughlin, K. B.; Lee, Y. T.; Saykally, R. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 89, 6577
- (85) Furlan, A.; Wulfert, S.; Leutwyler, S. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1988, 153, 291.
- (86) Schuder, M. D.; Lovejoy, C. M.; Nelson, D. D., Jr.; Nesbitt, D. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 91, 4418.
- (87) Blake, G. A.; Bumgarner, R. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 91, 7300.
- (a) Althorpe, S. C.; Clary, D. C.; Bunker, P. R. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1991, 187, 345. (b) Jensen, P.; Bunker, P. R.; Epa, V. C.; (88)Karpfen, A. J. Mol. Spectrosc. 1992, 151, 384
- Schuder, M.; Lovejoy, C. M.; Lascola, R.; Nesbitt, D. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 99, 4346.
- Schuder, M. D.; Nelson, D. D., Jr.; Nesbitt, D. J. J. Chem. Phys. (90) 1993, 99, 5045.
- Fraser, G. T.; Nelson, D. D., Jr.; Charo, A. C.; Klemperer, W. J. (91) Chem. Phys. 1985, 82, 2535.
- (92)Nelson, D. D., Jr.; Fraser, G. T.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1985, 83, 6201.
- Nelson, D. D., Jr.; Klemperer, W.; Fraser, G. T.; Lovas, F. J.; (93) Suenram, R. D. J. Chem. Phys. **1987**, 87, 6364. Nelson, D. D., Jr.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. **1987**, 87, 139.
- Havenith, M.; Cohen, R. C.; Busarow, K. L.; Gwo, D.-H.; Lee, Y. (95)T.; Saykally, R. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 94, 4776.
- (96) van Bladel, J. W. I.; Van der Avoid, A.; Wormer, P. E. S.; Saykally, R. J. J. Chem. Phys. **1992**, 97, 4750.
- (97) Havenith, M.; Linnartz, H.; Zwart, E.; Kips, A.; ter Meulen, J. J.; Meerts, W. L. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1992, 193, 261.
- Loeser, J. G.; Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Cohen, R. C.; Elrod, M. J.; Steyert, D. W.; Saykally, R. J.; Bumgarner, R. E.; Blake, G. A. J. Chem. Phys. **1992**, *97*, 4727. (98)
- (99) Linnartz, H.; Kips, A.; Meerts, W. L.; Havenith, M. J. Chem. Phys. **1993**, 99, 2449.
- (100) Dyke, T. R. J. Chem. Phys. 1977, 66, 492.
- (101) (a) Dyke, T. R.; Mack, K. M.; Muenter, J. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1977, 66, 498. (b) Hu, T. A.; Dyke, T. R. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 91, 7348.
- (102) Coudert, L. H.; Lovas, F. J.; Suenram, R. D.; Hougen, J. T. J. Chem. Phys. 1987, 87, 6290.
- (103)Dyke, T. R. In Structures and Dynamics of Weakly Bound Molecular Complexes; Weber, A., Ed.; Reidel: Boston, 1987; p
- (104) Huang, Z. S.; Miller, R. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 88, 8008.
 (105) Coudert, L. H.; Hougen, J. T. J. Mol. Spectrosc. 1988, 130, 86.
 (106) Martinache, L.; Jans.-Burli, S.; Vogelsanger, B.; Kresa, W.; Bauder, A. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1988, 149, 424.
 (107) Freeger C. T. Screener, P. D. Science, J. T. J. Mol. Spectroscience, A. S. Science, Science,
- (107) Fraser, G. T.; Suenram, R. D.; Coudert, L. H. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, *90*, 6077
- (108) Huang, Z. S.; Miller, R. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 91, 6613.
 (109) Fraser, G. T.; Suenram, R. D.; Coudert, L. H.; Frye, R. S. J. Mol.
- Spectrosc. 1989, 137, 244. (110) Suenram, R. D.; Fraser, G. T.; Lovas, F. J. J. Mol. Spectrosc.
- 1989, 138, 440.
- (111) Busarow, K. L.; Cohen, R. C.; Blake, G. A.; Laughlin, K. B.; Lee, Y. T.; Saykally, R. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 90, 3937.
 (112) Zwart, E.; ter Meulen, J. J.; Meerts, W. L. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1990, 173, 115.
- (113) Coudert, L. H.; Hougen, J. T. J. Mol. Spectrosc. 1990, 139, 259.

- (114) Smith, B. J.; Swanton, D. J.; Pople, J. A.; Schaefer, H. F., III.; Radom, L. J. Chem. Phys. **1990**, 92, 1240. (115) Fraser, G. T. Int. Rev. Phys. Chem. **1991**, 10, 189.

- (116) Pugliano, N.; Saykally, R. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 96, 1832.
 (117) Pugliano, N.; Cruzan, J. D.; Loeser, J. G.; Saykally, R. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 98, 6600.
- (118) Stahl, W.; Coudert, L. H. J. Mol. Spectrosc. 1993, 157, 161.
- (119) Karyakin, E. N.; Fraser, G. T.; Suenram, R. D. Mol. Phys. 1993, 78, 1179
- (120) Prichard, D. G.; Nandi, R. N.; Muenter, J. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 89, 115.
- (121) (a) Ohshima, Y.; Matsumoto, Y.; Takami, M.; Kuchitsu, K. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1988, 147, 1. (b) Oshima, Y.; Matsumoto, Y.; Takami, M.; Kuchitsu, K. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1988, 152, 116.
- (122) Fraser, G. T.; Suenram, R. D.; Lovas, F. J.; Pine, A. S.; Hougen, J. T.; Lafferty, W. J.; Muenter, J. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 89, 6028
- (123) Alberts, I. L.; Rowlands, T. W.; Handy, N. C. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 88, 3811.
- (124) Matsumura, K.; Lovas, F. J.; Suenram, R. D. J. Mol. Spectrosc. 1991. 150. 576.
- (125) Bhattacharjee, R. L.; Muenter, J. S.; Coudert, L. H. J. Chem. Phys. **1992**, 97, 8850.
 (126) Suni, I. I.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. **1993**, 98, 988.
- (127) Lovas, F. J.; Suenram, R. D.; Coudert, L. H.; Blake, T. A.; Grant, K. J.; Novick, S. E. J. Chem. Phys. **1990**, 92, 891.

- (128) Arunan, E.; Gutowsky, H. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 98, 4294.
 (129) Longuet-Higgins, H. C. J. Chem. Phys. 1963, 6, 445.
 (130) Coker, D. F.; Watts, R. O. J. Phys. Chem. 1987, 91, 2513.
 (131) Karyakin, E. N.; Fraser, G. T.; Pate, B. H.; Suenram, R. D. J. Mol. Spectrosc. 1993, 161, 312.
 (120) Outslo, L. A., Dribe, T. P. J. Chem. Phys. 1980, 72, 5069.
- (132) Odutola, J. A.; Dyke, T. R. J. Chem. Phys. 1980, 72, 5062.
- (133) Odutola, J. A.; Hu, T. A.; Prinslow, D.; O'Dell, S. E.; Dyke, T. R. J. Chem. Phys. **1988**, 88, 5352
- (134) Karyakin, E. N.; Fraser, G. T.; Suenram, R. D.; Lovas, F. J.; Coudert, L. H. Unpublished results.
- (135) Joyner, C. H.; Dixon, T. A.; Baiocchi, F. A.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1981, 74, 6550.
- (136) Lovejoy, C. M.; Nesbitt, D. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1987, 87, 1450.
- (137) Kukolich, S. G.; Bumgarner, R. E.; Pauley, D. J. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1987, 141, 12.
- (138) Dayton, D. C.; Miller, R. E. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1988, 143, 580.
- (139) Leopold, K. R.; Fraser, G. T.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1984, 80, 1039
- (140) Klots, T. D.; Ruoff, R. S.; Gutowsky, H. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 90, 4216.
- (141) Dayton, D. C.; Pedersen, L. G.; Miller, R. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1990, 93. 4560.
- (142) Legon, A. C.; Suckley, A. P. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1989, 157, 5.
 (143) Janda, K. C.; Steed, J. M.; Novick, S. E.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1977, 67, 5162.
- (144) Fraser, G. T.; Pine, A. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 91, 637.
- (145) Peterson, K. I.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1984, 80, 2439.
- (146) Leung, H. O.; Marshall, M. D.; Suenram, R. D.; Lovas, F. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 90, 700.
- (147) Fraser, G. T.; Leopold, K. R.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1984, 81, 2577.
- (148) Ohshima, Y.; Endo, Y. J. Chem. Phys. **1990**, 93, 6256. (149) Ford, R. S.; Suenram, R. D.; Fraser, G. T.; Lovas, F. J.; Leopold, K. R. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 94, 5306.
- (150) Fraser, G. T.; Suenram, R. D.; Lovas, F. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1987, 86, 3107.
- (151) Grushow, A.; Burns, W. A.; Reeve, S. W.; Dvorak, M. A.; Leopold,
- K. R. J. Chem. Phys. 1994, 100, 2413.
 (152) Blake, T. A.; Eggers, D. F.; Tseng, S.-H.; Lewerenz, M.; Swift, R. P.; Beck, R. D.; Watts, R. O.; Lovas, F. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 98, 6031.
- (153) Stockman, P. A.; Bumgarner, R. E.; Suzuki, S.; Blake, G. A. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 96, 2496.
- (154) Zwart, E.; Linnartz, H.; Meerts, W. L.; Fraser, G. T.; Nelson, D. D., Jr.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. **1991**, 95, 793.
- (155) Fraser, G. T.; Pine, A. S.; Kreiner, W. A. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 94, 7061
- (156) Fraser, G. T.; Suenram, R. D. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 96, 7287.
 (157) Suenram, R. D.; Lovas, F. J.; Fraser, G. T.; Gillies, J. Z.; Gillies, C. W.; Onda, M. J. Mol. Spectrosc. 1989, 137, 127.
- (158) Lovas, F. J.; Suenram, R. D.; Fraser, G. T.; Gillies, C. W.; Zozom, J. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 88, 722.
- (159) Kuczkowski, R. L.; Taleb-Bendiab, A. Proceedings from NATO Advanced Workshop: Structures and Conformations of Non-rigid Molecules; Laane, J., Ed.; Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dordrecht, 1993 (in press). (160) Xu, L.-W.; Kuczkowski, R. L. J. Chem. Phys. **1994**, 100, 15.
- (161) Wilson, E. B., Jr. Verbal remark at E.B.W. group meeting, 1955.
- (162) Block, A.; Marshall, M. D.; Pedersen, L. G.; Miller, R. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 96, 7321.
 (163) Zolandz, D.; Yaron, D.; Peterson, K. I.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem.
- Phys. 1992, 97, 2861.
- (164) Lee, S.; Suni, I. I.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 96, 5577.

- (165) (a) Yaron, D.; Peterson, K. I.; Zolandz, D.; Klemperer, W.; Lovas, F. J.; Suenram, R. D. J. Chem. Phys. 1990, 92, 7095. (b)
 Bumgarner, R. E.; Suzuki, S.; Stockman, P. A.; Green, P. G.; Blake, G. A. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1991, 176, 123
- (166) The relatively precise determination of e Q q(N) for free N_2 by W. Jager and M. C. L. Gerry (Chem. Phys. Lett. 1992, 196, 274) allows this.
- (167) (a) Soper, P. D.; Legon, A. C.; Read, W. G.; Flygare, W. H J. Chem. Phys. **1982**, 76, 292. (b) Nesbitt, D. J.; Lindeman, T. G.; Farrell, J. T., Jr.; Lovejoy, C. M. J. Chem. Phys. **1994**, 100, 775.
- Herbine, P.; Hu, T. A.; Johnson, G.; Dyke, T. R. J. Chem. Phys. (168)1990, 93, 5485
- (169) Hilpirt, G. H.; Karyakin, E. N.; Fraser, G. T. Unpublished results.
- (170) Nelson, D. D., Jr.; Fraser, G. T.; Peterson, K. I.; Zhao, K.; Klemperer, W.; Lovas, F. J.; Suenram, R. D. J. Chem. Phys. 1986, 85, 5512.
- (171) Bizzarri, A.; Heijmen, B.; Stolte, S.; Reuss, J. Z. Phys. D. 1988, 10, 291
- (172) Gwo, D.-H.; Havenith, M.; Busarow, K. L.; Cohen, R. C.; Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Saykally, R. J. Mol. Phys. 1990, 71, 453. (173) Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Cohen, R. C.; Loeser, J. G.; Saykally, R.
- J. J. CHem. Phys. 1991, 95, 9.
- (174) Zwart, E.; Meerts, W. L. Chem. Phys. 1991, 151, 407.
- (175) Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Cohen, R. C.; Saykally, R. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1994, 101, 146.
- (176) Fraser, G. T.; Lovas, F. J.; Suenram, R. D. Manuscript in preparation.
- (177) Fraser, G. T.; Lovas, F. J.; Suenram, R. D. J. Mol. Spec., to be published.
- (178) Lovas, F. J.; Suenram, R. D.; Belov, S. P.; Tretyakov, M. Yu.; Ortigoso, J. Manuscript in preparation.
- (179) (a) Child, M. S.; Nesbitt, D. J. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1988, 149, 404.
 (b) Nesbitt, D. J.; Child, M. S.; Clary, D. C. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 90, 4855.
 (c) Nesbitt, D. J.; Child, M. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 98, 478.
- (180) (a) Hutson, J. M. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 96, 6752. (b) Hutson, J. (100) (a) Hutson, J. M. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 96, 6152. (b) Hutson, J. M. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 96, 4237.
 (181) Cohen, R. C.; Saykally, R. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 98, 6007.
 (182) McIlroy, A.; Nesbitt, D. J. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1991, 187, 215.
 (183) Farrell, J. T., Jr.; Sneh, O.; McIlroy, A.; Knight, A. E. W.; Nesbitt, D. J. Chem. 1992, 7267.

- (165) Falten, S. I., Shen, O., McHuy, K., Kinghe, K. E. W., Nessite, D. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 97, 7967.
 (184) (a) Chang, H.-C.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 98, 2497.
 (b) Chang, H.-C.; Tao, F.-M.; Klemperer, W.; Healey, C.; Hutson, J. M. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 99, 9337.
- (185) Kerstel, E. R. Th.; Meyer, H.; Lehmann, K. K.; Scoles, G. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 97, 8896.
- (186) Meyer, H.; Kerstel, E. R. Th.; Zhuang, D.; Scoles, G.; J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 90. 4623.
- (187) Kerstel, E. R. Th.; Pate, B. H.; Mentel, T. F.; Yang, X.; Scoles, G. J. Chem. Phys. 1994, 101, 2762.
- (188) Hetzler, J. R.; Casassa, M. P.; King, D. S. J. Phys. Chem. 1991, 95, 8086
- (189) Huang, Z. S.; Jucks, K. W.; Miller, R. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1986, 85, 6905.
- (190) Dayton, D. C.; Jucks, K. W.; Miller, R. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 90, 2631
- (191) Bohac, E. J.; Marshall, M. D.; Miller, R. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 96, 6681.
- (192) Legon, A. C.; Millen, K. J.; Mjöberg, P. J.; Rogers, S. C. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1978, 55, 157.
- (193) Pine, A. S.; Howard, B. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1986, 84, 590.
 (194) Howard, B. J.; McKellar, A. R. W. Mol. Phys. 1993, 78, 55.
 (195) While the value of 639 cm⁻¹ is reasonable, slight errors relating to the mean of the fine structure splitting of the monomer were inadvertently included in the analysis. (Howard, B. J. Private
- communication.)
- (196) Howard, B. J.; Pine, A. S. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1985, 122, 1.
- (197) Fraser, G. T.; Pine, A. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1986, 85, 2502.
- (198) Lovejoy, C. M.; Nesbitt, D. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 94, 208.
 (199) Lovejoy, C. M.; Nesbitt, D. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1990, 93, 5387.
- Janda, K. C.; Bieler, C. R. Atomic and Molecular Clusters; (200)
- Bernstein, E. R., Ed.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 1990, p 455. Cline, J. I.; Sivakumar, N.; Evard, D. D.; Bieler, C. R.; Reid, B. (201)
- P.; Halberstadt, N.; Hair, S. R.; Janda, K. C. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 90, 2605.
- (202) (a) Bieler, C. R.; Evard, D. D.; Janda, K. C. J. Phys. Chem. 1990, 94, 7452.
 (b) Bieler, C. R.; Spence, K. E.; Janda, K. C. J. Phys. Chem. 1991, 95, 5058
- (203) Bohac, E. J.; Marshall, M. D.; Miller, R. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 97, 4890.
- Jäger, W.; Xu, Y.; Djauhari, J.; Gerry, M. C. L. 48th Ohio State Symposium on Molecular Spectroscopy, paper RG'4, 1993. Jäger, W.; Xu, Y.; Gerry, M. C. L. J. Chem. Phys. **1998**, 99, 919. (204)
- (205)Xu, Y.; Jäger, W.; Gerry, M. C. L. J. Chem. Phys. 1994, 100,
- (206) 4147.
- (a) Ogata, T.; Jäger, W.; Ozier, I.; Gerry, M. C. L. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 98, 9399. (b) For infrared spectroscopy of this complex, (207)see also: McKellar, A. R. W. J. Mol. Spectrosc. 1992, 153, 475.

- (208) Jäger, W.; Xu, Y.; Heineking, N.; Gerry, M. C. L. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 99, 7510.
- (209) (a) Jäger, W.; Xu, Y. J.; Gerry, M. C. L. J. Phys. Chem. 1993, 97, 3685. (b) For infrared spectroscopy of this complex see also Bunte, S. W.; Miller, J. B.; Huang, Z. S.; Verdasco, J. E.; Wittig, C.; Beaudet, R. A. J. Phys. Chem. 1992, 96, 4140.
 (210) Ohshima, Y., Iida, M.; Endo, Y. J. Chem. Phys. 1990, 92, 3990.
 (211) Faust, W. L.; McDermott, M. N. Phys. Rev. 1961, 123, 198.
- (212) Luo, F.; McBane, G. C.; Kim, G.; Giese, C. F.; Gentry, W. R. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 98, 3564. We note also some recent contra-tional contrastructure and the statement of the statement o versy stirred by this work: Meyer, E. S.; Mester, J. C.; Silvera, I. F. J. Chem. Phys. 1994, 100, 4021. Luo, F. L.; McBane, G C.; Kim, G.; Giese, C. F.; Gentry, W. R. J. Chem. Phys. 1994, 100, 4023. He₂ has also recently been observed in diffraction experiments: Schöllkopf, W.; Toennies, P. J. Private com-
- munication. (213) (a) Luo, F.; Kim, G.; McBane, G. C.; Giese, C. F.; Gentry, W. R. J. Chem. Phys. **1993**, 98, 9687. (b) Luo, F.; Kim, G.; Giese, C. F.; Gentry, W. R. J. Chem. Phys. **1993**, 99, 10084.
 (214) (a) Gutowsky, H. S.; Klots, T. D.; Chuang, C.; Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Emilsson, T. J. Chem. Phys. **1985**, 83, 4817. (b) Gutowsky, H. S.; Klots, T. D.; Chuang, C. (c) Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Emilsson, T. J. Chem. Phys. **1985**, 83, 4817. (c) Gutowsky, H. S.; Klots, T. D.; Chuang, C. (c) Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Emilsson, T. J. Chem. Phys. **1985**, 83, 4817. (c) Gutowsky, H. S.; Klots, T. D.; Chuang, C.; Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Emilsson, T. J. Chem. Phys. **1985**, 83, 4817. (c) Gutowsky, H. S.; Klots, T. D.; Chuang, C.; Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Emilsson, T. J. Chem. Phys. **1985**, 83, 4817. (c) Gutowsky, H. S.; Klots, T. D.; Chuang, C.; Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Emilsson, T. J. Chem. Phys. **1985**, 83, 4817. (c) Gutowsky, H. S.; Klots, T. D.; Chuang, C.; Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Emilsson, T. J. Chem. Phys. **1985**, 83, 4817. (c) Gutowsky, H. S.; Klots, T. D.; Chuang, C.; Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Emilsson, T. J. Chuang, C.; Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Emilsson, Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Emilsson, C.; Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Emilsson, Schmuttenmaer, Schmuttenmaer, Schmuttenmaer, Schmuttenmaer, Schmuttenmaer, Schmuttenmaer, Sc
- H. S.; Klots, T. D.; Chuang, C.; Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Emilsson T. J. Chem. Phys. 1987, 86, 569. (c) Klots, T. D.; Gutowsky, H. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 91, 63.
- (215) McIlroy, A.; Lascola, R.; Lovejoy, C. M.; Nesbitt, D. J. J. Phys. Chem. 1991, 95, 2636.
- (216) (a) Gutowsky, H. S.; Klots, T. D.; Chuang, C.; Keen, J. D.;
 Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Emilsson, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 7174. (b) Gutowsky, H. S.; Klots, T. D.; Chuang, C.; Keen, J. D.; Schmuttenmaer, C. A.; Emilsson, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5633
- (217) Gutowsky, H. S.; Chuang, C.; Klots, T. D.; Emilsson, T.; Ruoff, R. S.; Krause, K. R. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 88, 2919.
 (218) Klots, T. D.; Chuang, C.; Ruoff, R. S.; Emilsson, T.; Gutowsky,
- (219) Riots, T. D., Chuang, C., Rubit, R. S., Emisson, T.; Gutowsky, H. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1987, 86, 5315.
 (219) (a) Elrod, M. J.; Steyert, D. W.; Saykally, R. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 94, 58. (b) Elrod, M. J.; Steyert, D. W.; Saykally, R. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 95, 3182. (c) Elrod, M. J.; Loeser, J. G.; Sacheller, B. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1092, 08, 5326. Saykally, R. J. J. Chem. Phys. **1993**, 98, 5352. (220) Klots, T. D.; Ruoff, R. S.; Chuang, C.; Emilsson, T.; Gutowsky,
- H. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1987, 87, 4383.
- (221) Xu, Y.; Jäger, W.; Gerry, M. C. L. J. Mol. Spectrosc. 1993, 157, 132.
- (222) Xu, Y.; Gerry, M. C. L.; Connelly, J. P.; Howard, B. J. J. Chem.
- (222) Au, 1, 993, 98, 2735.
 (223) Gutowsky, H. S.; Klots, T. D.; Dykstra, C. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1990, 93, 6216. (224) Sands, W. D.; Bieler, C. R.; Janda, K. C. J. Chem. Phys. 1991,
- 95, 729.
- (225) Hair, S. R.; Cline, J. I.; Bieler, C. R.; Janda, K. C. J. Chem. Phys. **1989**, 90, 2935. Yu, L.; Williamson, J.; Foster, S. C.; Miller, T. A. J. Chem. Phys.
- (226)
- (227) Weber, T.; Neusser, H. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 94, 7689.
 (227) Weber, T.; Neusser, H. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 94, 7689.
 (228) Dayton, D. C.; Miller, R. E. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1989, 156, 578.
 (229) Gutowsky, H. S.; Chen, J.; Hajduk, P. J.; Ruoff, R. S. J. Phys.
- Chem. 1990, 94, 7774. (230) Gutowsky, H. S.; Hajduk, P. J.; Chuang, C.; Ruoff, R. S. J. Chem.
- Phys. 1990, 92, 862.
 (231) Emilsson, T.; Klots, T. D.; Ruoff, R. S.; Gutowsky, H. S. J. Chem.
- Phys. 1990, 93, 6971.
 (232) (a) Jucks, K. W.; Miller, R. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 88, 2196. (a) Subs, it. V., Millison, R.; Klots, T. D.; Chuang, C.; Gutowsky,
 (b) Ruoff, R. S.; Emilsson, R.; Klots, T. D.; Chuang, C.; Gutowsky,
 H. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 89, 138.
 (233) Ruoff, R. S.; Emilsson, T.; Chuang, C.; Klots, T. D.; Gutowsky,
 H. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 90, 4069.
 (244) Ruoff, R. S.; Emilsson, T.; Chuang, C.; Klots, T. D.; Cutowsky,
- (234) Ruoff, R. S.; Emilsson, T.; Chuang, C.; Klots, T. D.; Gutowsky, H. S. J. Chem. Phys. **1990**, *93*, 6363.
- (235) (a) Peterson, K. I.; Suenram, R. D.; Lovas, F. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 90, 5964. (b) Gutowsky, H. S.; Chuang, C. J. Chem. Phys. 1990, 93, 894
- (236) Peterson, K. I.; Suenram, R. D.; Lovas, F. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 94, 106.
- (237) Kolenbrander, K. D.; Dykstra, C. E.; Lisy, J. M. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 88, 5995.
- (238) Suhm, M. A.; Farrell, J. T., Jr.; Ashworth, S. H.; Nesbitt, D. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 98, 5985.
- (239) Pugliano, N.; Saykally, R. J. Science 1992, 257, 1937.
 (240) Liu, K.; Loeser, J. G.; Elrod, M. J.; Host, B. C.; Rzepiela, J. A.; Saykally, R. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 3507.
- (241) (a) Fraser, G. T.; Pine, A. S.; Lafferty, W. J.; Miller, R. E. J. Chem. Phys. **1987**, 87, 1502. (b) Pine, A. S.; Fraser, G. T. J. Chem. Phys. **1988**, 89, 100.
- (242) (a) Prichard, D.; Muenter, J. S.; Howard, B. J. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1987, 135, 9. (b) Bryant, G. W.; Eggers, D. F.; Watts, R. O. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1988, 151, 309.
 (243) Miller, R. E.; Vohralik, P. F.; Watts, R. O. J. Chem. Phys. 1984,
- 80, 5453.
- (244) Fisher, G.; Miller, R. E.; Vohralik, P. E.; Watts, R. O. J. Chem. Phys. 1985, 83, 1471.

- (245) Bryant, G. W.; Effers, D. F.; Watts, R. O. J. Chem. Soc. Faraday Trans 2 1988, 84, 1443.
- (246) (a) Steed, J. M.; Dixon, T. A.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1979, 70, 4095; (Erratom) J. Chem. Phys. **1981**, 75, 5977. (b) Fraser, G. T.; Pine, A. S.; Suenram, R. D. J. Chem. Phys. **1988**, 88, 6157.
- (247) (a) Colbourn, E. A.; Douglas, A. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1976, 65, 1741. (b) Herman, P. R.; LaRocque, P. E.; Stoicheff, B. P. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 89, 4535.
- (248) Bulski, M.; Chalasinski, G. J. Chem. Phys. 1987, 86, 937
- (a) Kortbeek, P. J.; Schouten, J. A. Mol. Phys. **1990**, 69, 981. (b) Wells, B. H. Mol. Phys. **1987**, 61, 1283. (c) Bulski, M. Chem. (249)Phys. Lett. 1981, 78, 361. (d) Bulski, M., Chalasinski, G. Theoret. Chim. Acta (Berl.) 1980, 56, 199. (250) (a) Cooper, A. R.; Jain, S.; Hutson, J. M. J. Chem. Phys. 1993,
- 98, 2160. (b) Chalasinski, G.; Szczesniak, M. M.; Cybulski, S. M. J. Chem. Phys. 1990, 92, 2481. (c) Bulski, M.; Chalasinski, G. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1982, 89, 450. (d) Daudey, J. P.; Novaro, O.; Berrondo, M. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1979, 62, 26
- (251) Bulski, M.; Chalasinski, G. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1986, 128, 25.
- (252) See, for example: Chalasinski, G.; Cybulski, S. M.; Szczesniak, M. M.; Scheiner, S. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 91, 7048
- (253) See, for example: Chalasinski, G.; Szcesniak, M. M.; Cieplak, P.; Scheiner, S. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 94, 2873.
- (254) See, for example: Szczesniak, M. M.; Kendall, R. A.; Chalasinski, G. J. Chem. Phys. **1991**, 95, 5169.
- (255) Szczesniak, M. M.; Chalasinski, G.; Cybulski, S. M.; Scheiner,
- S. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 93, 4243.
 (256) (a) Meath, W. J.; Koulis, M. J. Mol. Struct. (Theochem) 1991, 226, 1. (b) Kolos, W. In New Horizons of Quantum Chemistry; Löwdin, P. O., Pullman, B., Eds.; D. Reidel Publishing Co.:
- Dordrecht, 1983; p 243. (257) (a) Cooper, A. R.; Hutson, J. M. J. Chem. Phys. **1993**, 98, 5337. (b) Hutson, J. M.; Beswick, J. A.; Halberstadt, N. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 90, 1337.
- (258) Aziz, R. A.; Chen, H. H. J. Chem. Phys. 1977, 67, 5719.
- (259) Hutson, J. M. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 89, 4550.
 (260) McIlroy, A.; Nesbitt, D. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 97, 6044.
- (261) Bone, R. G. A.; Amos, R. D.; Handy, N. C. J. Chem. Soc. Faraday Trans. 1990, 86, 1931. (262) Tao, F.-M.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 99, 5976.

- (263) Stone, A. J. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1981, 83, 233.
 (264) Baiocchi, F. A.; Reiher, W.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1983, 79, 6428. For a nice point-counterpoint argument, see also the preceding paper: Buckingham, A. D.; Fowler, P. W. J. Chem. Phys. **1983**, 79, 6426.
- (265) Buckingham, A. D.; Fowler, P. W.; Hutson, J. M. Chem. Rev. **1988**, *88*, 963. Harris, S. J.; Janda, K. C.; Novick, S. E.; Klemperer, W. *J. Chem.*
- (266)Phys. 1975, 63, 881
- (267) Buckingham, A. D.; Fowler, P. W. Can. J. Chem. 1985, 63, 2018.
- (263) Baiocchi, F. A.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1983, 78, 3509.
 (268) Lovas, F. J.; Suenram, R. D.; Ross, S.; Klobukowski, M. J. Mol.
- (209) Lovas, A. S., Jost, M. S., Jost, J., Construction, S. Bortosz, 1987, 123, 167.
 (270) Jucks, K. W.; Huang, Z. S.; Dayton, D.; Miller, R. E.; Lafferty, W. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1987, 86, 4341.
 (271) Walsh, M. A.; England, T. H.; Dyke, T. R.; Howard, B. J. Chem. Distribution of the physical systems and the physical systems. Control of the physical systems and the physical systems. Society 2014, 2015.
- (271) Walsh, M. A.; England, T. H., Lyne, T. H., Lyne, T. H., Lyne, Phys. Lett. 1987, 142, 265.
 (272) Jucks, K. W.; Huang, Z. S.; Miller, R. E.; Fraser, G. T.; Pine, A. S.; Lafferty, W. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 88, 2185.
 (273) Stone, A. J. Mol. Phys. 1985, 56, 1065.
 (274) Stone, M. A. J. Chem. Phys. 1986, 85, 6587.
- (274) Spackman, M. A. J. Chem. Phys. 1986, 85, 6587.
 (275) Spackman, M. A. J. Phys. Chem. 1987, 91, 3179.

- (276) Dykstra, C. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 6168.
 (277) Dykstra, C. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 6168.
 (277) Dykstra, C. E. J. Phys. Chem. 1990, 94, 6948.
 (278) Tao, F.-M.; Pan, Y.-K. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1992, 194, 162.
 (279) Chang, H.-C.; Tao, F.-M.; Klemperer, W.; Healey, C.; Hutson, J. M. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 99, 9337.
 (280) Tao, F.-M.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. J. Chem. Phys. 1994, 102. 101. 1129.
- (281) Cwiok, T.; Jeriorski, B.; Kolos, W.; Moszynski, R.; Szalewicz, K. J. Chem. Phys., submitted for publication.
- (282) See, for example: Xantheas, S. S.; Dunning, T. H., Jr. J. Chem. (252) See, for example. Anterest, J. C., Phys. 1993, 98, 8037 and references therein.
 (283) Dill, J. C.; Allen, L. C.; Topp, W. C.; Pople, J. A. J. Am. Chem.
- Soc. 1975, 97, 7220.
- (284) For a popular discussion of this debate see: Baum, R. M. Chem. Eng. News. 1992, Oct. 20, 20.
- (285) Kollman, P.; McKelvey, J.; Johansson, A.; Rothenberg, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 955.
- (286) Latajka, Z.; Scheiner, S. J. Chem. Phys. 1984, 81, 407.
- (287) Frisch, M. J.; Pople, J. A.; Del Bene, J. E. J. Phys. Chem. 1985, 89, 3684
- (288) Sagarik, K. P.; Ahlrichs, R.; Brode, S. Mol. Phys. 1986, 57, 1247 (289) Frisch, M. J.; Del Bene, J. E.; Binkley, J. S.; Schaefer, H. F., III

- (209) Frisch, M. S., Der Beie, S. E., Binkley, S. S., Schaeter, H. F., HI J. Chem. Phys. 1986, 84, 2279.
 (290) Latajka, Z.; Scheiner, S. J. Chem. Phys. 1986, 84, 341.
 (291) Del Bene, J. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1987, 86, 2110.
 (292) Hassett, D. M.; Marsden, C. J.; Smith, B. J. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1991, 183, 449.
- (293) Tao, F.-M.; Klemperer, W. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 99, 5976.

- (294) Tao, F.-M.; Klemperer, W. Submitted for publication.
- (295) Olthof, E. H. T.; van der Avoird, A.; Wormer, P. E. S. Faraday Discussion on van der Waals Molecules, Durham, England, April, 1994.

- April, 1354.
 (296) Bent, H. A. Chem. Rev. 1968, 68, 587.
 (297) Howard, N. W.; Legon, A. C. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 88, 4694.
 (298) Legon, A. C.; Regon, C. A. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 90, 6867.
 (299) Legon, A. C.; Rego, C. A. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1989, 154. 468.
 (300) Legon, A. C.; Wallwork, A. L.; Rego, C. A. J. Chem. Phys. 1990, 6207. 92, 6397.
- Legon, A. C.; Rego, C. A. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 99, 1463. (301)
- (302) Dvorak, M. A.; Ford, R. S.; Suenram, R. D.; Lovas, F. J.; Leopold, K. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 108.
- (303) Reeve, S. W.; Burns, W. A.; Lovas, F. J.; Suenram, R. D.; Leopold, K. R. J. Phys. Chem. 1993, 97, 10630.
- (a) Jurgens-Lutovsky, R.; Almlöf, J. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1991, 176, (304)263. (b) Jurgens-Lutovsky, R.; Almlöf, J. Private communication.
- Janda, K. C.; Bernstein, L. S.; Steed, J. M.; Novick, S. E.; Klemperer, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 8074. (305)
- (306) (a) Ruoff, R. S.; Emilsson, T; Jaman, A. I.; Germann, T. C.; Gutowsky, H. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 96, 3441. (b) Rossi, A. R.; Jasinski, J. M. Chem. Phys. Lett. **1990**, 169, 399. (307) Keith, T. A.; Bader, R. F. W. J. Chem. Phys. **1992**, 96, 3447.
- (308) See, for example: (a) Hargittai, M.; Hargittai, I. Phys. Chem. Miner. 1987, 14, 413. (b) Hargittai, I.; Hargittai, M. In Molecular Structures and Energetics; VCH Publishers, Inc.: Weinheim, 1987; Vol. 2, p 1.

- (309) Burns, W. A.; Leopold, K. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 11622.
- (310) (a) Oh, J. J.; LaBarge, M. S.; Matos, J.; Kampf, J. W.; Hillig, K. W., II; Kuczkowski, R. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 4732. (b) LaBarge, M. S.; Matos, J.; Hillig, K. W., II; Kuczkowski, R. L. J. Am. CHem. Soc. 1987, 109, 7222.
- (311) Wong, M. W.; Wiberg, K. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 7527.
- (312) See, for example: Bürgi, H. B.; Dunitz, J. D. Acc. Chem. Res. 1983, 16, 153.
- (313) Hankinson, D.; Almlöf, J.; Leopold, K. R. Work in progress.
- (314) For an extensive review of ozonolysis, see: Kuczkowski, R. L. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1992, 79.
- (315) (a) Gillies, J. Z.; Gillies, C. W.; Suenram, R. D.; Lovas, F. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 7991. (b) Zozom, J.; Gillies, C. W.; Suenram, R. D.; Lovas, F. J. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1987, 139, 64.
- (316) (a) Gillies, C. W.; Gillies, J. Z.; Suenram, R. D.; Lovas, F. J.; Kraka, E.; Cremer, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 2412. (b) Gillies, J. Z.; Gillies, C. W.; Suenram, R. D.; Lovas, F. J.; Stahl, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 3073.
- (317) Legon, A. C.; Warner, H. E. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 98, 3827.
- (318) Legon, A. C.; Lister, D. G.; Warner, H. E. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 202.
- (319) Legon, A. C.; Lister, D. G.; Warner, H. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 8177.
- (320) Legon, A. C., Rego, C. A., Wallwork, A. L. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 97. 3050.